

Cybersecurity Policy Manual

MU214004 Rev. C

April 14, 2025

www.altus.com.br

No part of this document may be copied or reproduced in any form without the prior written consent of Altus Sistemas de Automação S.A. who reserves the right to carry out alterations without prior advice.

According to current legislation in Brazil, the Consumer Defense Code, we are giving the following information to clients who use our products, regarding personal safety and premises.

The industrial automation equipment, manufactured by Altus, is strong and reliable due to the stringent quality control it is subjected to. However, any electronic industrial control equipment (programmable controllers, numerical commands, etc.) can damage machines or processes controlled by them when there are defective components and/or when a programming or installation error occurs. This can even put human lives at risk. The user should consider the possible consequences of the defects and should provide additional external installations for safety reasons. This concern is higher when in initial commissioning and testing.

The equipment manufactured by Altus does not directly expose the environment to hazards, since they do not issue any kind of pollutant during their use. However, concerning the disposal of equipment, it is important to point out that built-in electronics may contain materials which are harmful to nature when improperly discarded. Therefore, it is recommended that whenever discarding this type of product, it should be forwarded to recycling plants, which guarantee proper waste management.

It is essential to read and understand the product documentation, such as manuals and technical characteristics before its installation or use. The examples and figures presented in this document are solely for illustrative purposes. Due to possible upgrades and improvements that the products may present, Altus assumes no responsibility for the use of these examples and figures in real applications. They should only be used to assist user trainings and improve experience with the products and their features.

Altus warrants its equipment as described in General Conditions of Supply, attached to the commercial proposals.

Altus guarantees that their equipment works in accordance with the clear instructions contained in their manuals and/or technical characteristics, not guaranteeing the success of any particular type of application of the equipment.

Altus does not acknowledge any other guarantee, directly or implied, mainly when end customers are dealing with thirdparty suppliers. The requests for additional information about the supply, equipment features and/or any other Altus services must be made in writing form. Altus is not responsible for supplying information about its equipment without formal request. These products can use EtherCAT® technology (www.ethercat.org).

COPYRIGHTS

Nexto, MasterTool, Grano and WebPLC are the registered trademarks of Altus Sistemas de Automação S.A.

Windows, Windows NT and Windows Vista are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

OPEN SOURCE SOFTWARE NOTICE

To obtain the source code under GPL, LGPL, MPL and other open source licenses, that is contained in this product, please contact opensource@altus.com.br. In addition to the source code, all referred license terms, warranty disclaimers and copyright notices may be disclosed under request.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Terms and Definitions	2
	2.1. Vulnerabilities	2
	2.2. Threat	2
	2.3. Security Levels	2
	2.4. Programmable Controller	2
	2.5. MasterTool	3
	2.6. Protected Environment	3
3.	Responsibilities of Different Agents in Industrial Systems Security	4
4.	General Protections for Industrial Automation Systems	5
	4.1. Use in a Protected Environment	5
	4.2. Security-Aware Users	5
5.	Security Measures Present in MasterTool	6
	5.1. User Management	6
	5.1.1. User Management at Project Levels	6
	5.1.2. Managing Users of the Integrated Visualization	11
	5.2. PLC IP Settings	12
	5.3. Webvisu Communication Ecryption	13
	5.4. Signature of Compiled IEC Libraries	14
	5.5. Encryption of the Application Source Code	14
	5.6. Logs	15
	5.7. Preset Outputs	18
	5.8. Error Visualization	18
	5.9. Control System Backup	19
	5.10. Inventory of Installed Components	20
	5.11. Protection Against Malicious Code	21
	5.12. Project Protection Methods	21
6.	Security Measures of Altus PLCs	23
	6.1. User Management and Access Rights of the UCP	23
	6.1.1. Users and Groups	23
	6.1.1.1. Common	24
	6.1.1.2. Using the Configuration Dialog Box	24
	6.1.1.2.1. Users	24
	6.1.1.2.2. Groups	25
	6.1.1.3. Applying and Storing the Current Configuration	25
	6.1.1.4. Considerations on Default Users and Groups	26
	6.1.1.4.1. Group Administrator	26
	6.1.1.4.2. Group Developer	26

		6.1.1.4	4.3.	Group Everyone	. 26
		6.1.1.4	4.4.	Group Service	. 27
		6.1.1.4	4.5.	Group Watch	. 27
		6.1.1.4	4.6.	User Administrator	. 27
		6.1.1.4	4.7.	User Everyone	. 27
		6.1.1.5.	User a	and Groups from Old Projects	. 27
	6.1.2.	Access I	Rights	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. 27
		6.1.2.1.	Defini	ing the Access Rights	. 28
		6.1.2.1	1.1.	Objects	. 28
		6.1.2.1	1.2.	Rights	. 29
		6.1.2.2.	Apply	ring the Current Configuration Access Rights	. 29
		6.1.2.3.	User a	and Access Right Management of Old Projects	. 29
	6.1.3.	Access t	to the R	untime System with Permission/Authentication Management	. 29
6.2.	Prot	ection Again	nst Floo	od-type Attacks	. 30
6.3.	Log	Storage .		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	. 30
6.4.	Web	Page Featu	res.		. 31
	6.4.1.	Update 1	PLC .		. 31
	6.4.2.	PLC's II	P Addre	ss Change	. 31
6.5.	Fire	wall			. 31
	6.5.1.	Settings			. 31
	6.5.2.	General	Setting	8	. 32
	6.5.3.	User Ru	les		. 33
6.6.	Ope	nVPN			. 35
	6.6.1.	Importin	ng Confi	igurations	. 36
	6.6.2.	OpenVP	N Conf	iguration	. 37
		6.6.2.1.	Comn	non Configurations	. 38
		6.6.2.1	1.1.	Mode	. 38
		6.6.2.	1.2.	Protocol	. 38
		6.6.2.	1.3.	Log Level	. 38
		6.6.2.	1.4.	Keen Alive Ping	. 38
		662	1 5	Keen Alive Timeout	38
		662	1.6	Security Files	38
		662	1.0.		. 30
		6622	Servei	r-Specific Configurations	. 39
		6622	21	Network Address	. 39
		662	2.1. 7.2	Communications Between Clients	. 30
		662	2.2.	Maximum Connected Clients	
		662	2.3. 7 4	Private Networks	
		6623	Client	-Specific Configurations	. 57
		6623	2 1	Remote IP	1
		6624	Annly	ving Configurations	1
	663	Security	Files		. 41
	6.6.4	Statue T	able		. +1
	665	Files to	Downlo		. т 2 ДЛ
	666	Archteet		n figuration	. 44 ЛЛ
	0.0.0.	6661	Host 4	m-Hoet	. 44 ЛЛ
		6662	Host f	10-11031	· 44
		6663	Site to	л.Site	. +J /5
		0.0.0.3.	5116-10		. 43



	6.7.	Secure	OPC UA Server	46
	e	5.7.1.	OPC UA Server: User Management Available	46
	e	5.7.2.	OPC UA Server: Support for X.509 Certificate-based Communication	47
	6.8.	Resour	rce Management	48
	6.9.	System	n Recovery	48
	e	5.9.1.	User Settings	48
	e	5.9.2.	Online Variables Export	49
	e	5.9.3.	Configuration Data Export	49
	ϵ	5.9.4.	Export Firmware	50
	6.10.	Possib	le Sources of Risks	50
	6.11.	Reserv	red TCP/UDP Ports	50
7.	Complia	nce with	IEC 62443-4-2	52
	7.1.	Securit	ty Level 1	55
	7.2.	Securit	ty Level 2	55
	7.3.	Securit	ty Level 3	55
	7.4.	Securit	ty Level 4	55
8.	Complia	nce with	the Operation Procedures Manual - ONS	56
9.	CODES	YS Com	ponents and Products	60
10.	Conclusi	on		62
11.	Appendi	ces		63
	11.1.	TLS C	Certificates and Keys Management	63
	1	1.1.1.	Certificate Generation with Easy-RSA	63
	1	1.1.2.	Certificate Generation with OpenSSL	67
	1	1.1.3.	TA Key Generation by OpenVPN	69

1. Introduction

Cybersecurity plays a crucial role in the industrial automation environment. With the alarming increase in security incidents in factories, plants and other automated applications, effective measures to protect these systems becomes imperative. This document's objective is to present and justify the cybersecurity measures implemented in Altus products, notably MasterTool, the development environment for programmable logical controllers (PLCs), and the Nexto, Nexto Xpress and Hadron Xtorm series.

Government institutions such as ICS-Cert and the German Federal Department for Information Security (BSI) have been closely monitoring these increasing incidents. Given this scenario, the development of methodologies to ensure the integrity and protection of systems has become an urgent necessity. A significant milestone in this regard is the international standard guideline IEC 62443, initially published by the Industrial Automation and Control Systems Security Committee (ISA99) of the International Society of Automation (ISA), often referred to as the ISA/IEC 62443 standard.

The scope of cybersecurity measures encompasses the protection of various aspects, including the availability of controller functionalities, application functionality, the confidentiality of source code and the application, the integrity of application functions, of the development system, and of the components employed, as well as the authenticity of the controller and its data.

In this context, this document highlights the cybersecurity strategies adopted by Altus and its products, aiming to safeguard customers and their industrial operations from increasingly sophisticated and persistent threats. The use of the ISA/IEC 62443 standard as a solid reference reflects a commitment to excellence in safeguarding the industrial automation environment against potential cyber risks.

In addition to aligning the products with the ISA/IEC 62443 standard, a study was conducted involving another important cybersecurity-related document: Module 5 of the ONS (Operador Nacional do Sistema) Operation Procedures Manual. Chapter 8 provides a description of how each proposed requirement relates to Altus products.

The content in this document covers the functionalities of the following products: Mastertool IEC XE, NX3003, NX3004, NX3005, NX3008, NX3010, NX3020, NX3030, XP300, XP315, XP325, XP340, XP350, XP351, HX3040, and NL717.

2. Terms and Definitions

2.1. Vulnerabilities

Automation systems might be attacked through different points in its structure:



Figure 1: Possible vulnerabilities of a typical automation system.

2.2. Threat

It refers to a set of circumstances and associated sequence of events with the potential to adversely affect operations (including mission, functions, image, or reputation), assets, control systems, or individuals through unauthorized access, destruction, disclosure, modification of data, and/or denial of service. In essence, it is the possibility of malicious or unwanted events occurring that compromise the integrity, confidentiality, or availability of resources and information in an industrial automation environment.

2.3. Security Levels

To address this comprehensive approach, the ISA/IEC 62443 standard establishes four main levels of protection on an ascending scale, each tailored to address different threats:

- Level 1: Occasional and accidental threats;
- Examples: Hard drive failure, operational errors.
- Level 2: Intentional threats through simple means;
- Example: Successfully guessing a password.Level 3: Intentional threats through sophisticated means; Example: Utilizing hacking tools.
- Level 4: Intentional threats through sophisticated means and extensive resources.
 Examples: Specialized development, knowledge of the application, or insider corruption.

2.4. Programmable Controller

A computer used in industrial automation systems, which can also be referred to as a PLC (Programmable Logical Controller) or simply a Controller, is a crucial component in these systems. These devices can be targeted in cyberattacks due to their unique characteristics, and they rely on programming designed for specific applications, which can potentially introduce vulnerabilities. The Altus controllers, discussed in this document, belong to the Nexto, Nexto Xpress, or Hadron Xtorm product lines.



2.5. MasterTool

MasterTool IEC XE is a comprehensive tool for programming, debugging, configuring, and simulating user applications. The software is based on the integrated tool concept, providing flexibility and ease of use, allowing users to program in six languages defined by the IEC 61131-3 standard: Structured Text (ST), Sequential Function Chart (SFC), Function Block Diagram (FBD), Ladder Diagram (LD), and Continuous Function Chart (CFC).

2.6. Protected Environment

Every system and piece of equipment needs to be accessed during its installation, operation, and maintenance. However, unrestricted access should be avoided to prevent operational failures and unintentional or intentional damage to the product. To achieve this, the system should be divided into subsystems, with controlled access to each subsystem, ensuring that only authorized individuals can access them, thereby safeguarding the environment.



3. Responsibilities of Different Agents in Industrial Systems Security

In the configuration of industrial control applications, several active parties and suppliers are involved: software and hardware component providers, system integrators or builders of industrial control applications, and operators. As information technology security is a comprehensive task, all the mentioned parties must make a significant effort to protect the application against attacks.

- Software Provider:
 - Analyze assets and threats;
 - Provide approved security measures;
 - Supply technical documentation;
- Automation Component Provider:
 - Analyze assets and threats;
 - Implement software and hardware security measures;
 - Supply technical documentation;
- System Integrator and Machinery Manufacturer:
 - Analyze assets and threats;
 - Implement software and hardware security measures;
 - Implement system security measures;
 - Implement system security measures;
- Plant Operator/Manager:
 - Analyze assets and threats;
 - Implement software, hardware, and system security measures;
 - Test, audit, and certify the system;
 - Train employees;

4. General Protections for Industrial Automation Systems

First and foremost, all commonly known security measures for computers should be applied in networks with industrial automation equipment, such as:

- Virus protection;
- Strong passwords that are regularly changed;
- Firewall protection;
- Use of VPN tunnels for inter-network connections;
- Caution when dealing with removable storage devices like USB removable media drives.

Additionally, it is mandatory to have well-defined user and permission management for access to controllers and their interconnected networks.

4.1. Use in a Protected Environment

Locating the controller in a protected environment is absolutely necessary to prevent accidental or unauthorized intentional access to the controller or its application, which is crucial for the operation of the machinery or installation.

This protected environment can be, for example, within:

- Locked electrical control cabinets with no external communication access;
- An intranet network with well-defined user rights and no external access;
- A network with internet access only through a well-configured firewall via a VPN tunnel.

Clearly, the level of protection decreases as you move down this list.

To establish such a protected environment, several rules must be followed:

- Keep the trusted network as small as possible and independent of other networks;
- Safeguard cross-communication between controllers and communication between controllers and field devices using standard communication protocols (fieldbus systems) through appropriate measures;
- Isolate and strictly separate these networks from common access;
- Use fieldbus systems exclusively in protected environments, as they lack additional security measures like encryption. Open physical or data access to fieldbus systems and their components poses a significant security risk.

4.2. Security-Aware Users

Security-aware users play a crucial role in cybersecurity as most reported security incidents occur unintentionally due to handling errors or device misuse. Therefore, both machine and facility manufacturers and operators need to be aware of potential threats and the necessary infrastructure measures to prevent them. To achieve this goal, it is advisable for users to participate in specialized training provided by security experts, whether within the company or by external professionals. These training sessions are designed to empower users to adopt proper security practices and understand how to apply the appropriate protective measures in the development and operation of industrial controllers.

5. Security Measures Present in MasterTool

This chapter provides information on the cybersecurity features within the MasterTool program, emphasizing their significance, and how to locate them in the product manuals. Below the subchapter titles, the relevant component requirement (RC) from the IEC 62443-4-2:2019-02 standard to which each feature corresponds is specified.

5.1. User Management

The configuration of users and groups (CR 1.3 of the standard) is done in the *Project* dialog in the *Project Settings* window. In the *Users and Groups* tab, a user can be registered for each person working on the project, and these users can be organized into groups. During user creation, passwords are not evaluated based on strength, but a strong password policy, if followed, meets the CR 1.7 requirement of the standard. In this screen, it is also possible to configure the maximum number of authentication attempts, meeting the CR 1.11 requirement of the standard.

More detailed information on the use of each tool presented in this chapter can be found in the chapter "User Management and Access Rights" of the Mastertool Manual.

5.1.1. User Management at Project Levels

RC 1.1, RE (1), 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, 1.7, 1.10, 1.11, 2.1, RE(1), RE(2), 2.5, 2.6 e 3.3 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

MasterTool offers the capability of read/write protection for individual objects within the project with user administration. This protection can be defined for menu commands as well as for specific object types (e.g., task creation, POUs, methods, GVLs, etc.) or existing objects in the project (such as project settings or POUs or specific tasks).

Through user administration, it's possible to limit the range of functionalities in a more granular way, allowing tailored access rights to specific security needs, thereby safeguarding the confidentiality of intellectual property as well as the integrity of the application code.

User management in a project is only useful when combined with access rights management. In a new project, access rights are not automatically defined but are instead configured to a default value, meaning that rights are usually "granted". During project execution, each right can be explicitly granted or denied and reconfigured to the default setting. Access rights management is done through the *Permissions* dialog or — for object access rights — through the *Access Control* dialog (which is part of the objects *Properties* dialog).

Once access to a function is restricted to the *Everyone* group, logging in as a user with access permissions is required to use it. During login, password characters are hidden by asterisks.

Log In		X
P	Select the project or user name and pass	library where you want to log in and enter your word:
	Project/Library	Project: Untitled1 ~
	User name	johndoe
	Password	******
	9	OK Cancel

Figure 2: Login screen.

Creating Users and Adding Them to Groups

A new user can be added to the project via *Project > Project Settings > Users and Groups > Users > Add....* In the same menu, users can be assigned to a group, ensuring that all group settings apply to the new user. Permissions for users within the project are defined at the group level. Each user is uniquely identified by their *Login Name*.

The software does not evaluate password strength, but implementing and enforcing an internal policy can help ensure user security in compliance with item 1.7 of the standard.



Add User		×
Account Properties		
Login name	johndoe	
Full name	John Doe	
Description		
Old password		
Password	*****	
Confirm password	******	
Active		
Memberships		
Engineers Owner		
This user is also member	of the 'Everyone' group.	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 3: Creating a new user.

User creation must be performed by a user in the *Owner* group. In Mastertool, the project starts with an *Owner* user, which, by default, has an empty password.

User Management

The *User Manager* allows administrators to define user access levels, make modifications, and assign users to predefined groups. To grant a specific user access, they must be added to a group, which in turn defines different levels of access. If a user attempts an operation that requires authorization, Mastertool will prompt for valid credentials to confirm access or modifications.

In Mastertool, the administrator user is the *Owner*, which, by default, has an empty password. To log in as this user, navigate to *Project > User Management > User Login...* Only users in the *Owner* group can add or edit user and group configurations, as well as change user passwords.

Add User		×
Account Properties		
Login name	johndoe	
Full name	John Doe	
Description		
Old password		
Password	*****	
Confirm password	******	
Active		
Memberships		
Engineers Owner		
This user is also member	of the 'Everyone' group.	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 4: Creating a new user.

Project Settings					×
Compile options	Users and Gro	oups			
Compiler warnings	Users Groups Set	tings			
Monitoring	Name	Full Name	Description		
 Page Setup Security 	i johndoe	John Doe			
SFC					
Source Download					
 Static Analysis Light Users and Groups 					
 Visualization Visualization Profile 					
	Export/Import		Add	Edit	Remove
				ОК	Cancel

Figure 5: User edit button.

User activation is also performed in the edit screen by selecting the *Active* checkbox. A user may be deactivated either manually or due to exceeding the login attempt limit. This setting must be configured by a system administrator.

Edit User		×
Account Properties		
Login name	johndoe	
Eull name	John Doe	
Description		
Old password	*****	
Password	*****	
Confirm password	******************************	
Acti <u>v</u> e		
Memberships		
Comparis Engineers		
This user is also member of t	he 'Everyone' group.	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 6: User editing.

Once logged in as Owner, a group can be created via Project > Project Settings > Users and Groups > Groups > Add....

Add Group		×
Group Properties		
Name	Operators	
Description		
Members		
group 'Engineers' group 'Owner' user 'johndoe' user 'Owner'		
	OK Cancel	

Figure 7: Adding groups.

To check a user group's project permissions, go to *Project > User Management > Permissions*. This menu allows permissions to be granted or removed. Within the folders, all project permission-related commands are listed. Clicking on a command opens a panel on the right, where permissions can be assigned or denied for registered groups.

actions	Permissions
Commands Comma	Image: Second secon

Figure 8: Group-based permissions screen.

Configuring Login Options

To prevent brute force login attacks, the number of authentication attempts can be configured via *Project > Project Settings* > *Users and Groups > Settings*. If the limit is exceeded, the user is deactivated and will remain so until an administrator

reactivates them. Section User Management in Chapter 5.1.1 explains how to reactivate a user.

Project Settings		×
 Compile options Compiler warnings Library development Monitoring Page Setup Security SFC SoftMotion Source Download Static Analysis Light Users and Groups Visualization Visualization Profile 	Users and Groups Users Groups Settings Maximum number of authentication trials Automatically logout after time of inactivity. Password Security New hash format for passwords Important: It is recommended for higher security. With the first login, the stored password hash of a user is converted. The new password hashes are not backward compatible.	
	OK Cance	

Figure 9: User and Group Configuration screen.

On the same screen, a maximum inactive session time can be set, after which the user must log in again. This setting also applies to remote access to devices.

Verifying Identification and Access Control for Unauthorized Accounts

To verify that an unauthorized user cannot access the project, go to Project > User Management > User Login and enter the credentials of a non-existent user. The following message should appear on the screen:





Managing Users of the Integrated Visualization RC 2.1 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard 5.1.2.

The integrated visualization of MasterTool allows for direct operation of the controller and the application. It is strongly recommended to separate operation into different sections or screens according to their level of functional and security influence. MasterTool provides the capability to protect individual visualization elements as well as entire visualization screens in the project through a special user visualization management.



This user management allows for limiting the scope of functionality for specific operators. Critical safety operation modes, such as exporting production data, the plant startup and shutdown process, and access to dedicated service functions, can be restricted to operators with explicitly assigned permissions, ensuring the confidentiality of intellectual property as well as the availability and reliability of the machine or plant process.

5.2. PLC IP Settings

RC 1.2 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

The Easy Connection feature allows for scanning all PLCs connected to that computer.



Figure 11: Easy Connection button.

After the scan, a list of connected PLCs will appear. From this list, it is possible to identify the device by its IP or by clicking on *Identify device*. When using *Identify device*, the PLC's DG LED will start blinking rapidly, allowing you to physically verify which PLC it is before logging in.

🕌 Easy Connection			×
Dispositivos (24/24):	Configuração Atual do Dispositivo		
NX3008_192.168.18.135 NX3008_192.168.18.166_Rafael	Modelo do Dispositivo	NX3030	
NX3008_192.168.17.221 NX3008_192.168.18.139 NX3008_192.168.20.93_liga_Hart	Versão do Dispositivo	1.9.6.0	
NX3004_192.168.19.113_Mtool NX3030_192.168.18.36 NX3030_192.168.18.36	Obter um endereço IP automa	ticamente	
XP300_192.168.19.106_mtool	Endereço IP	192 . 168 . 18 . 36	
XP340_CODESYS	Máscara de Sub-rede	255 . 255 . 248 . 0	
NX3008_BRUNE XP340_192.168.19.108 NX3030_Hat Over Prof. lin_CP4	Endereço do Gateway	192 . 168 . 16 . 253	
XP340_192.168.16.22	Endereço MAC	00:80:A0:05:53:02	
XP340_192.168.17.126_Julio XP340_102.168.17.4_Nelson NX3030_192.168.17.4_Nelson	Login Aplicar r	a NET 1	
NX3030_CPA_Berwas XP340_192_168_18_69	Nova Configuração de Dispositivo		
NX3030_LigaRedundante_A	Obter um endereço IP automat	icamente	
NX3030_Furtado_18.33_PLCA	Endereço IP	192 . 168 . 18 . 36	
	Máscara de Sub-rede	255 . 255 . 248 . 0	
	Endereço do Gateway	192 . 168 . 16 . 253	
C Filtrar pelo modelo do dispositivo: Todos ~		Aplicar	

Figure 12: Easy Connection.

For a controller from the Altus NX series, another way to check the IP address is through the button on its top, which displays various diagnostic information on the screen, including the IP address.



To change the device's IP, configure the new address, subnet, and gateway in the NET(1, 2, or 3) interface, and then log in to the device using the current IP that is still configured in the *Device* properties for communication with the computer.

Dispositivos 👻	ą 🗙	Configuration (Bus) 🔥 NET 1 🗙 🗃 Devi
Task Configuration MainTask MainPrg Configuration (Bus) NX3008 (NX3008) COM 1 NET 1 NET 2 CAN CAN		 Habilitar Interface Obter um endereço IP automaticamente Parâmetros da Porta Ethernet Endereço IP 192.168.15.1 Máscara de Subrede 255.255.255.0 Endereço do Gateway 192.168.15.253

Figure 13: Network configuration changes via Mastertool.

Another way to edit the network settings is through the device's web interface, described in Section 6.4.2.

5.3. Webvisu Communication Ecryption

RC 3.1 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

To prevent the interception of communication between the controller and the web browser on the computer, you can use an encrypted HTTPS connection. This can be configured with a self-signed certificate or with one generated by a Certificate Authority (CA). In the *Device Security Settings* screen, the use of HTTPS can be configured as mandatory or also allow HTTP connections.

This functionality is implemented in the Device screen > Communication Settings > Device > Security Settings....



Figure 14: Exporting user permissions

The CommunicationMode option allows selecting the Webvisu communication protocol.



Device Security Settings				
Setting	Value	Description		
🗉 🧰 CmpOPCUAServer				
🗉 🚞 CmpOpenSSL				
🗉 🧰 CmpUserMgr				
🗉 🧰 СтрАрр	🗄 🧰 СтрАрр			
🗉 🧰 CmpSecureChannel				
🗏 🤄 CmpWebServer				
🔦 CommunicationMode	HTTP, HTTPS: \sim	HTTP and HTTPS connections supported		
CreateSelfSignedCert	HTTPS: Only HTTP REDIRECT_HTTP HTTP, HTTPS: HT HTTP: Only HTTP	² S connections supported TO_HTTPS: Redirection of HTTP to HTTPS TP and HTTPS connections supported connections supported		

Figure 15: Exporting user permissions

5.4. Signature of Compiled IEC Libraries

RC 4.1 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

An IEC library can be signed with an X.509 certificate if it is saved as a compiled library. While compiled libraries ensure the protection of the source code, the signature allows for verification of its authenticity.

The status of library signatures can be observed through icons in the *Library Manager* or through the Details in the *Add Library* menu.



Figure 16: Signed and compiled libraries

The green icon indicates that the library is signed by a reliable certificate. If the icon is yellow, that means that the library in not signed.

5.5. Encryption of the Application Source Code

RC 4.1, 4.3 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

The application source code contains detailed information about the system in question and, therefore, the intellectual property of its manufacturer. Thus, protecting the application source code is a priority in the presence of confidential information.

MasterTool allows for project-wide encryption using passwords or physical security keys like USB Dongles. As described in IEC 62443-4-2 under "Component Requirement 4.3", password encryption is based on the AES (Advanced Encryption



Standard) methods, while solutions based on security keys are provided by the company WIBU Systems. Using passwords has the advantage of not requiring additional hardware, but using security keys provides a much higher level of protection since a password can be hacked or leaked.

Multiple different keys can also be linked to a project simultaneously, limiting access to the source code based on the number of keys and minimizing the risk of losing access to the code if a key is destroyed or lost. For this purpose, it is recommended to associate more keys than what would be strictly necessary.

The source code can also be protected using X.509 certificates. In this scenario, the source code will be symmetrically encrypted (AES algorithm). The symmetric key will then be asymmetrically encrypted (RSA algorithm) using the public key of each user who shares the source code. Optionally, the source code can also be digitally signed using the private key associated with the current user's X.509 certificate. The signature will be saved alongside the source code in a file with the ".p7s" extension, following the PKCS #7 format for digital signatures.

If encryption is not possible, it is established that the project file is saved in a proprietary format, and its integrity is verified each time the project is loaded, thus protecting the confidentiality of intellectual property.

Section 5.12 provides a more detailed description of the encryption configuration in the project.

5.6. Logs

RC 2.8, 2.9, RE(1), 2.11, RE(1), RE(2), 2.12, 3.3 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

Logs are provided and can identify errors, failures, warnings, project information, and actions taken by users.

To check the logs of the connected device, you should open the *Device* from the project treeview. Then, click on *Log* in the side menu of the *Device* window.



Figure 17: Project treeview

Through SD cards, it is possible to save the system logs, and if the card becomes full, a notification is issued. The device logs are stored in internal memory. It is possible to export a file containing all the logs, allowing it to be saved anywhere the user desires.

To perform the export, access the device logs and click on the icon marked in the image below.



mmunication Settings	Component	8 - 🔻 9 9 <u>9</u> 10 02	🔹 0 💿 126 🔘 0 Search in messages 🔍 Q [*] Pld.og - UTC Time	r r
	Severity	Time Stamp	Description	Component
5	0	02.10.2024 13:07 58.337	Application [Sim/Device Application] loaded via [Download]	CripApp
	0	02.10.2024 13:07:55.480	Error unregistering SDO config redundant area	IoDrvNextoBus
·		02.10.2024 13:07:55.480	Error unregistering dave redundant area	IoDruhiestoBus
ers and Groups	•	02.10.2024 13:07:55.400	Error unregistering SDO canfig redundant area	IpDrv/ventoBus
	•	02.10.2024 13:07:55.480	Error unregistering slave redundant area	IoDrvNextoBue
ess Rights	•	02.10.2024 13:06:44.133	Application [Sim.Device.Application] loaded via [Download]	CripApp
	•	01.10.2024 13:45:20.530	Error unregistering SDO config redundant area	IsOn/NewtoBus
plications	•	01.10.2024 13-45-20.530	Error unregistering slave redundant area	IsOn/NewtoBus
	•	01.10.2024 13:45:20.530	Error unregistering SDO config redundant area	IsOn/NewtoBus
omation	•	01.13.2024 13:45:29.530	Error unregistering slave redundant area	IsDrvNevtoBus
		01.13.202413:44:00.922	Application [Sim/Device Application] loaded via [Download]	ChipApp
r semings	•	01.10.2024 13:43:13.665	Error unregistering SDO config redundant area	[o0n/hextoBus
	0	01.10.2024 13:43:13.665	Error unregistering dave redundant area	Io0m/NextoBus
	0	01.10.2024 13:43:13.665	Error unregistering SDO config redundant area	IoDrvNextoBus
	•	01.10.2024 13:43:13.665	Error unregistering dave redundant area	IpDrv/vextoBus
	•	01.10.2024 13:42:36.634	Application (Sim.Device.Application) loaded via (OnlineChange)	CmpApp
	•	01.10.2024 13:41:15.105	Application [Sim.Device.Application] loaded via [Download]	CmpApp
	•	01.10.2024 13:41:14.334	Brior unregistering SDO carifo redundant area	IsOn/NewtoBue
	•	01.10.2024 13:41:14.334	Error unregistering slave redundant area	IsOn/NewtoBus
	•	01.10.2024 13:41:14.334	Error unregisterine SDO canflo redundant area	IsOn/NewtoBus
	•	01.13.2024 13:41:14.334	Error unregistering slave redundant area	IsOn/NewtoBus
	•	01.10.2024 09:46:09.171	Application [Sim:Device: Application] loaded via [Online/Drange]	CripApp
	0	01.10.202408-43:39.091	Application [Sim.Device.Application] loaded via [Download]	Criptop
	•	01.10.202408:43:36.015	Error unregistering SDO canfig redundant area	IoDrvNextoBus
	•	01. 10.2024 08:43:36.015	Error unregistering dave redundant area	IoDruhiestoBus
	•	01.10.2024 08:43:36.015	Error unregistering SDO canfig redundant area	IpDrv/iestoBus
	•	01.10.2024 08:43:36.015	Error unregistering slave redundant area	IpDrv/lextoBue
	•	01.10.2024 08:43:36.015	Error unregistering SDO config redundant area	IsOrv/lextoBus
	•	01.10.2024 08:43:38.015	Error unregistering slave redundant area	IsOn/NewtoBus
	•	01.10.2024 08:43:36.015	MCCBUS: Error waiting the exit of Modbus Slave Task	CmpLog
	•	01.10.2024 08-43:36.015	MCOBUS: Error setting exit for Madbus Slave Task	CmpLog
	•	29.09.2024 20:13:26.782	Application [Sim/Device Application] loaded via [Download]	CheApe
	•	29-09-2024 20:11:35-960	CODESYS Cantrol ready	01
	0	29.09.2024 20:11:35.960	Setting router 1 address to (3ddx 790:000 g)	CopRouter
	•	29.09.2024 20:11:35.960	Setting router 0 address to (0000)	CnpRouter
	•	29.09.2024 20:11:35.960	Network interface for mainnet+Placeholder_not_use not found	CmpRouter
	0	29.09.2024 20:11:35.959		04
	•	29.09.2024 20:11:35.959	Copyright CODES/IS Development GribH	CH .
	•	29.09.2024 20:11:35.959	3.5.18.60 Oct 26 2023	ON
	•	29.09.2024 20:11:35.959	OS+IIIndows, OTU=x86, Arch=3281, Coding=C	CH .
	•	29.09.2024 20:11:35.959	Simulation Device	01
	•	20.08.2014.31.31.35.050		~

Figure 18: Logs screen

The timestamp of the device's RTC (Real-Time Clock) is provided for each log, and the device's RTC can be configured using the *Clock Settings* button, located next to *Easy Connection*.

🦕 Clock Settings				×
Clock Settings				
PLC Date and Time:	31/03/2025	16:19:46	* *	
Computer Date and Time:	31/03/2025	16:17:19	× v	Write to PLC
Set Date and Time:	01/01/2000	16:17:10	-	Write to PLC
				ОК

Figure 19: Clock Settings.

The logs are saved in a circular manner, meaning that once the available memory limit is reached, the oldest records begin to be overwritten.

RTC settings protection

The protection of the RTC configuration functions can be done through access management to its configuration library. It is possible to block changes to the RTC settings from the *Device* menu. First, a group must be created, and a user should be added to this group.



♦ Add
Import Edit
¢ Delete
• Add
Import
📝 Edit
Delete

Figure 20: Adding a User to the Device

On the *Access Rights* page, you can grant or deny the execution of certain actions to registered users. To block changes to the RTC settings, you must deny modification of the *Application* parameter for the desired group, as highlighted in the image.



Figure 21: Configuring Access Rights on the Device

Confirmation that the device logs continue to be saved.

It can be confirmed that the device logs continue by accessing Device > Log and checking for updated data entries in the list. One way to force entries is by logging into the PLC, which will display the message "User logged in" at the top of the list.



File Edit View Project Build Onlir	ne Debug Tools Window Help)			
📽 🖬 🕼 🗠 🗠 🖁 🛍 🗙 🕅	N 🕼 🐴 😘 JI, 🗐 🦄 🖄 🕮	🖞 🛗 🔍 🗳 🕨	📲 🗿 🕔 🖓 🖓 📲	*표 양 호 장	
vices 👻 🖬	🕂 🗙 📄 UserPrg 👔 Device	Configuration	(Config)		
Dutitled2		the Commenter			
🖹 😏 🚮 Device [connected] (XP340)	Communication Settings	Components	• • • • • • • • •	1 0 0 0 0 0 Search in messages 4 4 /usr/log/StdLogger	• L UIC Ime
🗐 🗐 PLC Logic	E La	Severity	Time Stamp	Description	Component
🖹 💮 Application [stop]	Files	•	31.03.2025 16:29:09	User logged in	CmpNextoAppInfo
SystemEvents	100	•	31.03.2025 16:29:03	User logged out	CmpNextoAppInfo
🗉 🗀 SystemGVLs	209		31.03.2025 16:28:18	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 680us	CmpNextoAppInfo
🖲 🚞 SystemPOUs	Users and Groups		31.03.2025 16:27:16	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 655us	CmpNextoAppInfo
🗷 🗀 UserGVLs		•	31.03.2025 16:27:10	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 615us	CmpNextoAppInfo
🗉 🗀 UserPOUs	Access Rights	•	31.03.2025 16:27:09	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 600us	CmpNextoAppInfo
👘 Library Manager		•	31.03.2025 16:27:07	Using network configuration defined by the application.	CmpEthernet
🖻 🔛 Task Configuration	Applications	•	31.03.2025 16:27:06	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 589us	CmpNextoAppInfo
🖹 😳 😂 MainTask		•	31.03.2025 16:27:05	Boot application created	CmpNextoAppInfo
HainPrg	PLC Settings		31.03.2025 16:27:05	Application downloaded	CmpNextoAppInfo
🖹 🧐 🛗 Configuration (Config)	Manage Companying	•	31.03.2025 16:27:04	Available free memory lower than 20MB	CmpNextoHardwareDiagnostic
🖻 😏 🔟 XP340 (XP340)	Memory Consumption	•	31.03.2025 16:26:56	User logged in	CmpNextoAppInfo
😌 🐍 COM 1	Information		31.03.2025 16:26:56	Application State: STOP	CmpNextoIPC
- 😏 🔓 NET 1	2 Normation	8	31.03.2025 16:25:56	Invalid session ID. No other sessions on this channel, close it.	CmpSrv
😌 🏅 CAN		•	31.03.2025 16:22:52	NET1 Ethernet Link is Up	CmpEthernet
😔 🔓 Integrated I/O			31.03.2025 16:22:51	NET1 Ethernet Link is Down	CmpEthernet
		•	31.03.2025 16:22:49	NET1 Ethernet Link is Up	CmpEthernet
			31.03.2025.08-51-01	PSA key length for asymmetric suthentication algorithm adapted to minimum PSA key length	Cmpl learMor

Figure 22: Demonstration of Logs Being Saved

5.7. Preset Outputs

RC 3.6 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

In Mastertool, it is possible to configure the behavior of the component's outputs after a malfunction or failure. This is done in the *Device > PLC Settings* menu under the *Behavior for outputs in stop* option.

- Keep current values: The current values are maintained.
- Set all outputs to default: The default values derived from the I/O mapping are assigned.
- Execute program: The management of output values is governed by a program included in the project, which is executed in STOP mode. Enter the program name in the field on the right.

Devices 👻 🖣 🗙	Configuration (Bus)	UserPrg / @ Device x
Choted I Device (NX3008)	Communication Settings	Application for IJO handling Application V
O Application	Files	PLC Settings Update I/O while in stop
Configuration and Consumption	Log	Behavior for outputs in stop Set all outputs to default V
 SystemGVLs SystemPOUs 	Users and Groups	Always update variables Set all outputs to default Execute program used in any task) ~
Circle UserGVLs Circle UserPOUs	Access Rights	Bus cycle Options Bus cycle task curspecified>
Library Manager	Applications	
= 20 Task Configuration	PLC Settings	Generate force variables for IO mapping Enable diagnosis for devices
- ∰ Configuration (Bus)	Memory Consumption	Show I/O warnings as errors Enable symbolic access for IOs
NX3008 (NX3008) COM 1	Information	
NET 1		
- à NET 3 - à CAN		

Figure 23: Output behavior

5.8. Error Visualization

RC 3.7 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

The errors occurring in the system are presented clearly, objectively, and quickly, providing the user with the necessary information for correction or further diagnosis. Additionally, it does not provide data that is too detailed to aid in attacks.

There are two places where the system presents errors to the user: in the Logs (as shown in section 5.6) and in the message window of Mastertool.





Figure 24: Messages window

In the message window, errors related to the application development are displayed, such as configuration or syntax errors and improper use of libraries. Additionally, this tab also shows messages and warnings related to the project.

5.9. Control System Backup

RC 7.3 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

It is possible to download the source code from the internal memory of the CPU for backup purposes.

When attempting to log in to the PLC, a selection box will appear for choosing between online change or downloading the modifications. After that, the user is asked whether they want to download the source code. This ensures that the application's source code is stored as a backup within the PLC.



Figure 25: Download Option for the PLC.

Another way to keep a complete copy of the code is by extracting the Project Archive. This will generate a file that contains not only the code but also all the libraries used to run the application.



Figure 26: Project Archiving.

To store the PLC firmware as a backup, you need to access https://www.altus.com.br/suporte#suportedownload and download the file. It is not possible to keep the firmware backup in the PLC's internal memory.

The firmware update can be performed through the device's web page. To access it, enter the IP address in the browser's search bar. Then, go to *CPU Management*. You will need to log in to perform this action (admin/admin).

The previously downloaded file must be uploaded. The update may take a few minutes.

5.10. Inventory of Installed Components

RC 7.8 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

It is possible to check the inventory of installed components in Mastertool by accessing the *Help* menu.

Wittled1.project - MasterTool IEC XE File Edit View Project Build Online Image: Second Seco	Debug Tools Window 25 🍓 🍊 🎚 🏦 🎘 2월	Help Curl+Shift+F1 Contents Curl+Shift+F1 Index Curl+Shift+F2	
Devices • 4 ×	Configuration (Bus)	Search Contact support	
Device (10/3008)	Process Data	Update Software License Value Comment	
Application	Module Parameters	Release Notes ostics Area 24185 Define starting address of Module Diagnostics Area	ea.
Bill of Materials	Bus I/O Mapping	Altus Home Page	
 SystemGVLs SystemPOUs UserGVLs 		About	

Figure 27: Installed components inventory

On this page, you can check all the components installed in Mastertool.

≽ About MasterTool IEC XE				×
altus Abou	t MasterTool IE	CXE		
Current Components		License Information		
Name	Version ^	Software Version:	3.71	
Action Editor	3.5.18.60	License Type:	Lite	
Action Object	3.5.18.60	Loonse Type.	0.6	
Alarm Configuration Editors	4.4.0.0			
Alarm Configuration Objects	4.4.0.0			
Application Object	3.5.18.60			
ARM Codegenerator	4.0.3.0			
ARM64 Codegenerator	4.0.1.0			
AutoDeclare	3.5.18.60			
AxisGroup Editor	4.15.0.0			
AxisGroup Object	4.15.0.0			
Binary Archive	3.5.18.60			
<	>			
System Information				
OS Version	Microsoft Windows 10 P	ro (10.0.19045)		
.NET Version	v4.0.30319			
				011
				OK

Figure 28: Installed components

5.11. Protection Against Malicious Code

RC 3.2 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

As it is a closed system, the ways to load malicious code are through application loading or firmware updates. The application loading has the user protections mentioned earlier, and for firmware updates, the file is encrypted and has content consistency checks.

5.12. Project Protection Methods

RC 4.3 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

It is possible to access the project security settings from the menu *Project > Project Settings > Security*. In this screen, the user can select the project's security method. The default method is *Integrity Check*, where the file is saved in a proprietary format, and its integrity is verified each time the project is loaded.

The most secure method is using encryption, where the user can configure a password to encode the project's file content. The password will need to be entered every time the project is opened. There is also the option to configure encryption using certificates, requiring that the certificates of all users sharing the project be saved in local storage.



Figure 29: Security Menu.

To import and configure the project protection certificates, you must access the menu View > Security Screen.

Configuration (Bus)	Security Screen X				
User	User Profile and Certificate Selection				
	user_1 V 🕂 🗙				
Project	Digital Signature				
Devices	😼 Issued for Issued by Valid from Valid until Thumbprint				
	×				
	Project File Decryption				
	😼 Issued for Issued by Valid from Valid until Thumbprint				
	×				
	Security Level				
	Enforce encryption of project files				
	Enforce encryption of downloads, online changes and boot applications				
	Enforce signing of downloads, online changes and boot applications				
	Enforce timestamping of signed compiled libraries				
	Timestamping server				

Figure 30: Security Menu.

6. Security Measures of Altus PLCs

Altus PLCs are equipped with various security features to prevent vulnerabilities during their operation. Some measures are present in only certain controller models, so always check on the specific documentation of the product for the desired security features. Below the subchapter titles, the component requirement (CR) or Embedded Device Requirement (EDR) of the IEC 62443-4-2:2019-02 standard to which it pertains is provided.

6.1. User Management and Access Rights of the UCP

RC 1.1, RE (1), 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, 1.7, 2.1, RE(1), RE(2) from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

Nexto CPUs have a user rights management system that blocks or allows certain actions for each user group in the CPU. To edit these rights in the CPU, the user must access a project in MasterTool IEC XE without being logged in to the CPU. He must then click in the Device tree on the left of the program, double click on the *Device* item and then select the CPU in the *Communication Settings* tab that opens. Only the *Users and Groups* and *Access Rights* tabs refer to this topic. The figure below illustrates the steps to access this CPU tab.



Figure 31: Access to Users and Groups and Access Rights Tabs

ATTENTION

If the user forgets the password(s) of the account(s) with access to the CPU, the only way to recover this access is by updating its firmware.

ATTENTION

After performing a CPU user Logoff command, the *Device* tab of this project must be closed, so that all access rights are effectively closed.

6.1.1. Users and Groups

The Users and Groups tab is located in the Devices tab. It allows the configuration of user and group accounts that which, together with access rights management, control access to objects in the PLC in online mode.



6.1.1.1. Common

It might be desired that certain functions of a controller can only be executed by authorized users. For this purpose, the *Online User Management* feature provides the possibility to set up user accounts, to assign access rights for user groups and to force an user authentication at login.

The device specific user management might be predefined by the device description and it also depends on this description to what extent the definitions can be edited in the configuration dialogs in the programming system.

Like in the project user management, users have to be members of groups and only user groups can get certain access rights.

6.1.1.2. Using the Configuration Dialog Box

Basically, the handling of the online user management dialogs is very similar to that of the project's user management. There is even the possibility to *import* user account definitions from the project's user management.

Configuration (Bus)	Device X	•
Communication Settings	🔯 😂 🖶 Device user: admin	
Files	Synchronized mode: All changes are immediately downloaded to the device. This mode does not support undoing actions. Users	
Log	B−S admin	◆ Add
Users and Groups		O Import
Access Rights		Edit
		Delete
Applications		
Information		
PLC Settings		
	Groups	
	Administrator	◆ Add
	Service	♦ Import
	- 🥵 Watch	🗹 Edit
		Delete

Figure 32: Device Dialog, Users and Groups

6.1.1.2.1. Users

The following buttons are available for setting up user accounts:

• Add: The dialog Add User opens where you can define a user name and a password. The password must be repeated in the Confirm password field.

ATTENTION

By opening this dialog, the *Password* and *Confirm Password* fields are going to be filled with fictional characters, the user must replace these characters with a valid password.



Add User		×
Name	user1	
Default group	Developer	~
Password	•••••	0
Confirm password	•••••	
Password strength	Better	
	Password can be changed by user	
	Password must be changed at first login	
		<u>Q</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

Figure 33: Add User Dialog

• *Import*: The dialog *Import Users* opens showing all user names which are currently defined in the project user management. Select one or several entries and confirm with *OK*. The dialog *Enter* password will open where you have to enter the corresponding password as it is defined in the project user management, in order to get the user account imported to the device-specific user management.

Modify: The currently selected user account can be modified concerning user name and password. This *Edit User* (user name> dialog corresponds to the *Add User* dialog.

Delete: The currently selected user account will be deleted.

6.1.1.2.2. Groups

• *Add*: The dialog *Add Group* opens where you can define a new group name and select from the currently defined users those who should be members of this group.

Add Group	×
Name Dev2	
Group Members	
User admin User user 1 User user 2	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

Figure 34: Add Group Dialog

Import: The dialog *Import Groups* opens where the groups currently defined in the project user management are listed. You can select one or several entries and confirm with *OK* to get them integrated in the groups list of the device-specific user management.

Modify: The currently selected group can be modified concerning group name and associated users. For this purpose the *Edit Group* <group name>, dialog opens, which corresponds to the *Add Group* dialog.

Delete: The currently selected group can be deleted.

6.1.1.3. Applying and Storing the Current Configuration

Enables or disables synchronization between the editor and the device's user management system.

When the button is not activated, the editor remains either blank or displays a configuration that you have loaded from the hard disk.

If you enable synchronization while the editor holds a user configuration that hasn't been synced with the device, you'll be prompted to decide how to handle the editor's contents. You have the following options:

- Upload from the device and overwrite the editor content: This will load the configuration from the device into the editor, replacing the current contents.
- **Download the editor content to the device and overwrite the user management there**: This will transfer the configuration from the editor to the device, applying it and overwriting the existing user management settings.

Save to Disk, *Load* from Disk: The current configuration can be stored in a *.dum2 file and re-loaded from this file, which is useful to set up the same user configuration on multiple systems. The standard dialog for browsing in the file system will be provided for this purpose. The file filter automatically is set to *.*dum2*, which means *device user management* files.

Note: Before CODESYS V3.5 SP16, the Device user management files (*.dum) file type was used which did not require any encryption.

The actual settings can also be documented as printed version by use of the command *Print*... (*File* menu) or *Document*... (*Project* menu).

6.1.1.4. Considerations on Default Users and Groups

In firmware versions 1.3.x.x or lower, the existing users and groups are: Everyone and Owner, as seen in the table below:

Users	Groups
Everyone	Everyone
Owner	Owner

Table 1: Users and Groups in Versions 1.3.x.x

However, in firmware versions 1.4.x.x or higher there are the users: Administrator and Everyone, and the groups: Administrator, Developer, Everyone, Service and Watch. As seen in the table below:

Users	Groups
Administrator	Administrator
Everyone	Developer
	Everyone
	Service
	Watch

Table 2: Users and Groups in Versions 1.4.x.x

6.1.1.4.1. Group Administrator

This group has all privileges and it is not possible to remove it in the firmware versions 1.4.x.x or higher. The group Developer is part of this group.

6.1.1.4.2. Group Developer

Group created to define access rights to users that are application developers. The group Service is part of this group. If not used, this group can be removed.

6.1.1.4.3. Group Everyone

For firmware versions 1.3.x.x or lower: This is the default group to perform accesses in a CPU while there are no defined users and groups.

For firmware versions 1.4.x.x or higher: This is the default group to perform accesses in a CPU while there are no defined users and groups.



6.1.1.4.4. Group Service

Group created to define access rights to users that provide some kind of service in the PLC, for example, maintenance teams. The group Watch is part of this group. If not used, this group can be removed.

6.1.1.4.5. Group Watch

Group created to define access rights to user that can only visualize, without making any modification in the application. If not used, this group can be removed.

6.1.1.4.6. User Administrator

The user Administrator is defined in the groups Everyone and Administrator. The password of the user Administrator is *Administrator* and can be modified.

6.1.1.4.7. User Everyone

For firmware versions 1.3.x.x or lower: The user Everyone is defined in the group Everyone. This user doesn't have a defined password.

For firmware versions 1.4.x.x or higher: The user Everyone is defined in the groups Everyone and Administrator. This user doesn't have a defined password.

6.1.1.5. User and Groups from Old Projects

To maintain this data from old projects in a new project after updating the CPU firmware or in a new Nexto CPU, it's

necessary to execute the command *Synchronization* () in the old project with the original firmware, thus fetching the CPU configuration, and then execute the command *Save to disk*, saving the current configuration in a file.

In the new Nexto CPU or in an updated CPU, run the command *Load from disk*, then select the file generated before, *Synchronization* again, thus sending the configuration to the CPU.

ATTENTION

If the old project is with firmware versions 1.3.x.x or lower, a user and a group with the name *Administrator* must be created before saving the configurations in a file. This procedure guarantees that the configuration will be loaded in projects with firmware versions 1.4.x.x or higher.

6.1.2. Access Rights

This dialog is provided on a tab of the *Device* dialog (Device Editor). It is part of the *Online User Management* feature and is used to grant or deny certain permissions to the currently defined user groups, thus defining the user's access rights to files or objects (such as an application) on the PLC at runtime.

Note that these rights can only be assigned to groups, not to individual users. For this reason, a user must be defined as a member of a group. Users and groups are configured in the *Users and Groups* tab of the Device Editor.

The figure below shows the rights to add and remove children to/from the Device object for the user groups *Administrator*, *Developer*, *Service* and *Watch*.





Figure 35: Device Access Rights

See in the following how to define the access permissions and how to get them loaded to the device or stored in a reloadable file.

6.1.2.1. Defining the Access Rights

To define the permission for performing an action on one or multiple object(s), you have to select the object entries below the desired action type in the *Objects* window, then select the desired group in the *Rights* window, and then click on the *Grant* or *Deny* button (also in the *Rights* window).

See in the following a description of the particular dialog windows.

6.1.2.1.1. Objects

This part of the dialog lists the possible actions which might be performed during runtime on files in the PLC file system resp. runtime objects like for example applications. The tree is structured in the following way:

interview

• Top-level, for structuring purposes, there are two *folders* for File system objects and Runtime objects.

• 🌮:

- Indented below there are nodes for the four types of actions, which might be performed on the particular objects. These nodes also just serve for structural purposes:
- *Add/remove children (adding or removing of child objects to an existing object).*
- *F* Execute (for example start/stop application, setting breakpoints etc.)
- *I* Modify (for example downloading application, etc.)
- 👂 View (monitoring)
- Objects (action *targets*)



ATTENTION

Assigning an access right definition to a *father* in the objects tree usually means that the *children* will inherit this definition, as long as they do not get an explicit own definition. However, depending on the device, this might be handled differently. In any event, inheritances are not visualized here in the dialog.

6.1.2.1.2. Rights

This field shows the defined user groups and their rights in a table. By selecting an Object in the *Objects* tab, you can change its rights using the following buttons:

- **+**: The object(s) currently selected in the *Objects* window are granted for the group.
- —: The object(s) currently selected in the *Objects* window are denied for the group.
- X: Currently there is no explicit access right definition for the object(s) currently selected in the *Objects* window.

6.1.2.2. Applying the Current Configuration Access Rights

Enables or disables synchronization between the editor and the device's user management system.

When the button is not activated, the editor remains either blank or displays a configuration that you have loaded from the hard disk.

If you enable synchronization while the editor holds a user configuration that hasn't been synced with the device, you'll be prompted to decide how to handle the editor's contents. You have the following options:

- Upload from the device and overwrite the editor content: This will load the configuration from the device into the editor, replacing the current contents.
- **Download the editor content to the device and overwrite the user management there**: This will transfer the configuration from the editor to the device, applying it and overwriting the existing user management settings.

Save to Disk, *build* Load from Disk: The current configuration can be stored in a *.drm file and re-loaded from this file, which is useful to set up the same user configuration on multiple systems. The standard dialog for browsing in the file system will be provided for this purpose. The file filter automatically is set to *.*drm*, which means *device rights management* files.

The actual settings can also be documented as printed version by use of the command *Print*... (*File* menu) or *Document*... (*Project* menu).

6.1.2.3. User and Access Right Management of Old Projects

To maintain this data from old projects in a new project after updating the CPU firmware or in a new Nexto CPU, it's

necessary to execute the command *Synchronization* () in the old project with the original firmware, thus fetching the CPU configuration, and then execute the command *Save to disk*, saving the current configuration in a file.

In the new Nexto CPU or in an updated CPU, run the command *Load from disk*, then select the file generated before, *Synchronization* again, thus sending the configuration to the CPU.

ATTENTION

If the old project is with firmware versions 1.3.x.x or lower, a user and a group with the name *Administrator* must be created before saving the configurations in a file. This procedure guarantees that the configuration will be loaded in projects with firmware versions 1.4.x.x or higher.

6.1.3. Access to the Runtime System with Permission/Authentication Management

RC 1.4 e 1.5 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

There are different phases in an industrial application, from the initial development of the source code to its commissioning, production with the machine or plant, and maintenance. These phases are typically operated by different technicians with appropriate levels of qualification.



Considering these qualification levels and the threats of potential misuse beyond the assigned task or competence, it makes sense to restrict usage to certain user groups.

MasterTool supports authentication and permissions management for an individual user or a group of administrators. Depending on the security policy of the runtime system, user management may or may not be enabled by default. If not, all users are members of the administrator group and have unlimited rights on the controller until user management is activated. When using it, it's necessary for the first activation to occur during the initial login, specifying an administrator user.

Once at least one new user is added, all users must authenticate with their usernames and passwords for each online connection to the controller. Passwords are transmitted encrypted (by default, using asymmetric encryption) and stored encoded as cryptographic hashes in the runtime system.

This measure reduces the threat of accidental or intentional access to the running controller, which could impact the availability or integrity of the compiled application executed on the controller.

Secure login on the programmable controller provides a way to protect the user's application from any unauthorized access. By enabling this feature, the Nexto Series PLC will request a user password before executing any commands between MasterTool IEC XE and the PLC, such as stopping and programming the application or forcing outputs on a module.

6.2. Protection Against Flood-type Attacks

RC 7.1 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

The NX3035 NX3008, and HX3040 controllers, and the NX5000 (Ethernet) module are equipped with protection against flood-type attacks. This essential security feature is designed to detect and effectively mitigate flood attacks, in which a large amount of data is sent simultaneously to overload the system and cause unavailability or service disruption. However, it is always recommended to use firewall rules to allow traffic only from known addresses, enhancing this protection.

6.3. Log Storage

RC 2.9 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

The device logs are stored in the internal memory. It is possible to export a file containing all records, allowing the user to save it anywhere they prefer. To perform the export, you need to access the device logs and click on the icon marked in the image.

Communication Settings	Compone	ents 🔹 😨 🕆 🖶 👱 🚺	112 🗿 0 🖲 0 🚯 0 🕖 0 Search in messages 🔍 🔍 /usr/log/StdLogger	- 🗌 UTC Time 📑
Filer	Severity	Time Stamp	Description	Component
inca	•	02.04.2025 16:27:57	RSA key length for asymmetric authentication algorithm adapted to minimum RSA key length	CmpUserMgr
Log	•	01.04.2025 16:27:57	RSA key length for asymmetric authentication algorithm adapted to minimum RSA key length	CmpUserMgr
		31.03.2025 17:24:17	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 1043us	CmpNextoAppInfo
Jsers and Groups	•	31.03.2025 16:27:57	RSA key length for asymmetric authentication algorithm adapted to minimum RSA key length	CmpUserMgr
	•	31.03.2025 15:53:30	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 847us	CmpNextoAppInfo
ccess Rights	•	30.03.2025 16:27:57	RSA key length for asymmetric authentication algorithm adapted to minimum RSA key length	CmpUserMgr
	•	29.03.2025 16:27:57	RSA key length for asymmetric authentication algorithm adapted to minimum RSA key length	CmpUserMgr
pplications	•	29.03.2025 13:10:23	User logged out	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 18:52:41	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 811us	CmpNextoAppInfo
.C Settings	•	28.03.2025 16:27:57	RSA key length for asymmetric authentication algorithm adapted to minimum RSA key length	CmpUserMgr
amony Consumption	•	28.03.2025 13:25:55	User logged in	CmpNextoAppInfo
enory consumption	•	28.03.2025 13:23:53	User logged out	CmpNextoAppInfo
formation	•	28.03.2025 13:22:53	User logged in	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 13:05:09	User logged out	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 12:23:00	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 784us	CmpNextoAppInfo
		28.03.2025 11:31:03	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 727us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 11:29:47	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 655us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 11:16:48	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 649us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:40:30	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 633us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:38:32	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 604us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:33	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 506us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:25	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 462us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:24	Application State: RUN	CmpNextoIPC
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:19	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 441us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:17	New maximum cycle time for MainTask: 316us	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:17	Application State: STOP	CmpNextoIPC
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:16	Boot application created	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:16	Application downloaded	CmpNextoAppInfo
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:16	Using network configuration defined by the application.	CmpEthernet
	•	28.03.2025 10:35:01	User logged in	CmpNextoAppInfo
		28.03.2025 10:34:39	User logged out	CmpNextoAppInfo
		20.02.2025.00.20.47	Management and the fact that 727.	Combined a tantafa

Figure 36: Export Logs

The logs are saved in a circular manner, meaning that once the available memory limit is reached, the oldest records start to be overwritten.



6.4. Web Page Features

EDR 3.10 e RE(1) e RC 5.1 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

The products offer a configuration page accessible through a web browser by simply typing the device's IP address in the search bar. From there, it is possible to configure and monitor various functionalities, depending on the product.

6.4.1. Update PLC

It is possible to update the PLC firmware from the web page. To access it, type the IP address in the browser's search bar. Then, go to *UCP Management*. Login will be required to perform this action (admin/admin by default).

You must upload the firmware file available at https://www.altus.com.br/suporte#suportedownload. The update may take a few minutes.

Before the new firmware is actually written, integrity checks of the file and session are performed. First, the user is asked to log in with a password on the PLC, ensuring that only authorized people have access. After that, the firmware undergoes a series of checks on the provided binary, verifying the model, CRC, and the number of files.

After this, the firmware files in the binary are unpacked and decrypted, and are also subjected to a CRC check. Only then are they written.

6.4.2. PLC's IP Address Change

On the device's web page, access the *Management* menu and find the *Network Settings* screen. In this screen, modify the values and save the changes.

altus NX300	8	
	Bus Information	Management
© System	Configuration	O Apply
	Mode	Defined by web page 💙
Radia SNMP		NETI +
USB Devices		NET2 -
Firewall	Enable IP Address	192.168.25.92
OpenVPN	Network Mask Gateway	255.255.248.0
FTP Server	NET3	
_	Enable	2
	IP Address	192,168,40,92

Figure 37: Changing Network Settings via the Device's Web Page

6.5. Firewall

RDR 5.2 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

The Firewall is designed to increase the security of the device while it is in use. The main function of the Firewall is to filter data packets coming into and leaving the device. The implemented filter uses information from each data packet to decide whether that packet is allowed. The main parameters used are the input/output interfaces, the port, the transport layer protocol, and the source and destination addresses.

6.5.1. Settings

Firewall configuration is done through a dedicated section located in the *Management* tab of the controller's System Web Page, as shown below:


altus NX300	3	English Portug
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
🕀 System	Last modification - General Configuration	
Network	Enable Firewall	
문 SNMP	Disable ICMP (Ping)	
	Enable UDP Packets Filter	
USB Devices	Enable TCP Packets Filter	
🙆 Firewall	Inbound Package Policy Outbound Package Policy	ACCEPT V
VPN OpenVPN		
FTP FTP Server	User Rules	+ Add to list
	Source Type	
	Source Address	
	Source Mask	
	Destination Address	

Figure 38: Firewall Configuration Screen

The Firewall is a separate feature from the MasterTool IEC XE, that is it doesn't require any interaction with the programming tool. Settings applied on the *Firewall* section take effect when confirmed with the *Apply* button, and are automatically saved in the controller. If the feature is enabled, it will operate again even after rebooting the device.

The following sections describe the possible settings for the Firewall, divided according to the tables of the Firewall section.

6.5.2. General Settings

The image below shows all the settings in the *General Configuration* table:

altus NX300	English Portug	
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
Svstem	Last modification -	
Network	General Configuration	
V	Enable Firewall	
뭄 SNMP	Disable ICMP (Ping)	
—	Enable UDP Packets Filter	
USB Devices	Filter UDP per IP	
6 Eirewall	UDP Packages per Second	0
	Burst of UDP Packets	0
OpenVPN	Enable TCP Packets Filter	
-	Filter TCP per IP	
FTP FTP Server	TCP Packages per Second	0
	Burst of TCP Packets	0
	Inbound Package Policy	ACCEPT ~
	Outbound Package Policy	ACCEPT ~

Figure 39: Firewall General Settings Table

This table expands dynamically by selecting the options to enable UDP and TCP packet filters, revealing all the items that can be configured. The first item in this table, *Enable Firewall*, is used to enable and disable this functionality. When the

Firewall is enabled, the web page settings, when submitted to the device, will be applied to the configuration files, and then the Firewall will filter what has been configured. If the Firewall is disabled, the configuration that was made is stored, but the rules are not applied in the controller.

The field *Disable ICMP (Ping)* enables or disables protection against the ICMP protocol. When protection is enabled, the controller will not respond to *Ping* requests, since it will drop packets that use the ICMP protocol. When disabled, the operation of the device for *Ping* responses maintains its normal behavior.

When enabled, the fields that enable UDP and TCP packet filtering, filter these protocols according to the limits configured in their respective fields. The packet filtering rule works like this: for a packet to be accepted, there must be "credits" available, and one credit is used to accept a data packet.

The setting of the field *Burst of XXX Packets* sets the initial value of packages (credits), which will be accepted. In this way, it is possible to set an overflow limit for these packets, where if there is a large flow of packets, only the configured amount will be accepted. The *XXX Packages per Second* field sets how many credits that rule will earn per second. For example, if the value is 5, each second, the rule will receive five new credits, so it will be able to accept five more packages. The limitation for this increment in the number of credits is the configuration of *Burst of XXX Packets* itself, and the limit set here is not exceeded, even with the increment of packets every second. These settings are applied as a *stock*, where upon receiving a data packet, it is first checked if there is any credit available in the stock, and then a decision is made whether or not to accept the package. If the packet is accepted in this quantity filter, it is forwarded to the filter of the other firewall rules.

The setting *Filter XXX per IP* causes the rule to differentiate the source addresses of each packet and apply the packet per second and packet overflow filters individually to each IP address. So, going back to the previous example, it can be considered that each source address has its *stock* of credits, and one address cannot use the credits that are in the *stock* reserved for others.

ATTENTION

Negative values are not allowed for the XXX Packages per Second and Burst of XXX Packets fields. If negative values are set, when applying the settings an error message will appear on the screen indicating the field that had a conflict. If the filter is enabled, but the values in these fields are left at 0, the filter is not applied.

The settings in this table are applied with the *Apply* button that appears in figure 41.

The fields for selecting both incoming and outgoing policies have options to accept and drop. if the Firewall is active, when data packets arrive, all the rules that have been configured are checked, and then the policy configured for these packets is applied, whether *Accept* or *Drop*. So if an accept policy is set, *Accept*, all packets that do not match any configured rule will be accepted by the firewall, and if a reject policy is set, *Drop*, they would all be dropped.

6.5.3. User Rules

The User Rules table was created to allow greater control over the firewall's rule settings. With it, you can configure different rules dynamically and with more precise filters.

altus NX3008	3	English
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
System	Outbound Package Policy	ACCEPT V
Network	User Rules	+ Add to list
品 SNMP	Source Type	IP v
USB Devices	Source Address	
∀	Source Mask	
🖞 Firewall	Destination Address	
OpenVPN	Destination Mask Interface	NETI Y
- 	Action	ACCEPT ~
FTP Server	Service Port	Other V
	Protocol	
	Direction	

Figure 40: Firewall User Rules Configuration Table

This table changes its format according to the selected *Source Type*, which can be IP or MAC. When the type is *IP*, the table has the items shown in figure above, but when the type is selected as *MAC*, the source and destination mask fields disappear, as well as the *Destination Address* field. The item *Source Address* now accepts a MAC address as input. Also, an address-based *MAC* rule can only be configured as an input rule. In other words, the *Direction* field will be forced with the value *INPUT*.

With the *Source Address* and *Destination Address* fields, you can enter the addresses that will be configured for that specific rule, and using the *Source Mask* and *Destination Mask* fields, you can configure a network range for this rule. If you only configure the address, only the address will be assigned to the rule but with different netmask configurations, you can get IP groups of various sizes to be applied to the rule.

Interface configuration makes it possible to individually select each physical or virtual interface available to the controller. Based on which interface you select for a given rule, only data packets entering or leaving the interface will be filtered by the Firewall. If you use the option *Any*, this rule will have no interface filter. So the filtering rule will be valid for all available interfaces.

The *Action* field has three configuration options: *ACCEPT*, *DROP*, and *REJECT*. The action sets up what should be done with the package whose characteristics match the rule applied. If the chosen action is *ACCEPT*, the data packet having characteristics according to the rule will be accepted. If it is *DROP*, the packet will be dropped, and no reply will be sent to the sender of the package. Finally, if it is set to *REJECT*, the packet will be rejected, and a reply will be sent to the sender, stating that the requested *host* is inaccessible.

The *Service Port* field, is used to indicate which ports will be configured in this rule. All service ports that have a certain protocol or communication *standard* for the controller, such as the MODBUS protocol that has the standard port 502, are available with the service name and port used next to it. Thus, if you configure the rule for the MODBUS protocol, port 502 will be applied if you configure the rule for the WebVisu service, port 8080 will be applied, and so on for the other protocols listed in the checkbox.

This field also has two other settings, which are *Any* and *Other*. When you select the *Any* option, the rule is applied to all service ports except services except port 80 then two rules are created using the following port ranges: *1:79* and *81:65535*. If you select the *Other* option, a text box appears in which you can configure the port you want, except for port 80. To configure a port, you can type its number in the text box, but if you want to add more than a single port, you must use the "&" separator, and if you want to insert a range of ports, simply enter the start and end port using the separator ":".

Example of configuring ports 120, 144, and the range 1300 to 1450 in the same field: 120 & 144 & 1300:1450.

This field doesn't accept values outside the range 1:65535, port 80, or port repeats.

The HTTP port 80 can only be set by selecting it from the list of known protocols and cannot be applied to the NET 1 interface. So if the HTTP protocol is chosen, the Interface field *NET 1* and *Any* won't be selectable.

In the *Protocol* field, you can select between UDP, TCP, and UDP/TCP protocols. If you select the UDP/TCP option, two rules will be created on the firewall, one for each transport protocol.

In the *Direction* field, you can select between *INPUT*, *OUTPUT*, and *INPUT*|*OUTPUT*. These options cause the rule to be applied to packets arriving at the device, option *INPUT*, or leaving it, option *OUTPUT*. If the joint option is configured, two rules will be created, one with each direction option.



altus NX300	3	English Portu
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
System	User Rules	+ Add to list
	Source Type	IP v
Network	Source Address	192.168.18.120
	Source Mask	255.255.248.0
古 ^{SNMP}	Destination Address	192.168.18.17
USB Devices	Destination Mask	255.255.248.0
Ψ	Interface	Any v
B Firewall	Action	ACCEPT ~
	Service Port	WebVisu - 8080 🗸
VPN OpenVPN	Protocol	
FTP FTP Server	Direction	INPUT V
	List of Rules	O Apply
	ID Action User Rules	
	0 Accept as input Source is 192.168	8.18.120/21 destination is 192.168.18.17/21 on port 80 🛛 🗙

The figure below demonstrates how a rule is applied:

Figure 41: Firewall User Rules Enforcement Table

After filling in the fields as you wish to configure the firewall rule, you must click the *Add to list* button. By doing this, all the settings will be analyzed to check if there are invalid values or if there is any duplicate rule. It's impossible to add two rules with the same address, mask, interface, port, and direction parameters. If a conflict is found, a message will be displayed indicating the field that contains an invalid setting or the ID number of the rule in the table whose settings caused the conflict with the newly configured one.

After all, parameters are checked, the rule will be added to the list below the configuration table. This list expands automatically as rules are added or deleted. If you want to exclude a rule from the list, you can place the mouse over the one you want to exclude. When you do this, a red *X* button will appear on the right, as shown in the previous figure. By clicking it, the rule will be deleted from the table.

When adding new rules, or deleting an existing one, in the rules table, the *Apply* button below must be clicked for the configuration to be applied to the device.

ATTENTION

During the application of firewall rules, there may be a momentary instability in Ethernet communication.

6.6. OpenVPN

RDR 5.3 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

VPN (Virtual Private Network), used for surfing unsecured networks, transmitting data, or simply accessing the Internet with a high level of security and privacy. The VPN virtual network can be understood as a tunnel in which information travels securely, protected by security certificates and keys. OpenVPN is an *open-source* service, which means that it is free to use and distribute, and its source code is open for modifications if needed.

The main purpose of a VPN is to communicate securely over an unsecured network. To make this possible, data encryption is used based on certificates and keys generated using TLS, Transport Layer Security, a protocol that performs 256-bit encryption, one of the most secure.

To perform the configuration of the OpenVPN client or server, the OpenVPN page was created in the *Management* tab of the CPU's System Web Page. As shown in the figure below.



altus NX3008		
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
System	Enabled	
Network		
뭅 SNMP	General Configuration	S Apply E Import
USB Devices	Mode	Server V
(A) Firewall	Mask Address	255.255.255.0
	Communication between Clients	Disable ~
OpenVPN	Maximum Simultaneous Connections	3
	Protocol	ТСР
FTP FTP Server	Logs Level	3
	Keep Alive Ping	10
	Keep Alive Timeout	60
	CA Certificate	Select V
	Device Certificate	Select V

Figure 42: OpenVPN Configuration Screen

Because it is located within the *Management* tab, access to this page is password protected. The following sections describe the settings and functionality of this page.

6.6.1. Importing Configurations

To quickly and easily configure the VPN on your device, you can use the *Import* button that appears in the picture 42 in the upper right corner of the page. Clicking on this button opens a file explorer window where you can select a configuration file. Files with extension *.conf* or *.ovpn* should be selected. When you select a file, its contents will be read and the configuration parameters present will fill their respective configuration fields on the web page.

For the file's parameters to be interpreted correctly, they must follow standard OpenVPN configuration file syntax.

If there are security files, certificates, or keys, written in the configuration file, along with the other parameters, they will be read and separated into separate files within the controller for use.

ATTENTION

Do not use spaces to separate the words in the name of the ".conf" files. Instead, use "_" to separate them.

6.6.2. OpenVPN Configuration

altus NX3008	3	English Portug
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
System	General Configuration	O Apply I Import
(Mode	Server V
	IP Address	10.8.100.0
На snmp	Mask Address	255.255.255.0
	Communication between Clients	Disable ~
USB Devices	Maximum Simultaneous Connections	5
(角) Firewall	Protocol	TCP
	Logs Level	3
OpenVPN	Keep Alive Ping	10
	Keep Alive Timeout	60
FTP FTP Server	CA Certificate	Server_inline_ca
	Device Certificate	Server_inline_device
	Device Key	Server_inline_device
	TA Key	Server_inline_device
	Key of TA	SHA256

Figure 43: OpenVPN Server Configuration Table

altus NX300	8	0+ Log
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
System	Enabled	
Network	General Configuration	O Apply E Import
Ba SNMP	Mode	Client ~
USB Devices	Remote IP	192.168.16.140
Ψ	Protocol	TCP V
Firewall	Logs Level	3
	Keep Alive Timeout	5
	CA Certificate	Client2_inline_ca
FTP FTP Server	Device Certificate	Client2_inline_device
	Device Key	Client2_inline_device ~
	TA Key	Client2_inline_device
	Key of TA	SHA256 ~

Figure 44: OpenVPN Client Configuration Table

This section shows how OpenVPN configuration is performed. The settings will be divided into three parts: settings common to both operating modes, settings unique to a server, and settings unique to a client.

6.6.2.1. Common Configurations

Looking at the figures with the client configurations, figure 44, and the server configuration, figure 43, you can identify that several parameters are the same for both configurations. These are:

6.6.2.1.1. Mode

With the configuration of the *Mode*, you can select between two options, client or server. When you select one of the two modes, the settings table changes automatically to allow the configuration of the necessary fields for each mode of operation.

6.6.2.1.2. Protocol

This field configures which transport protocol will be used for VPN communication. It can be set between UDP and TCP.

ATTENTION

The configuration of the server and all its clients must be the same. With a divergent configuration, OpenVPN is not able to perform communication.

6.6.2.1.3. Log Level

This field sets the level that the log file will receive. The setting ranges from 0 to 5, 0 being the most basic level and 5 being the most advanced.

Level 0 only displays logs about some critical failure in OpenVPN and levels 4 and above are used for debugging as there is a lot of information being written to the log file. For normal operation, it is recommended to use value 3.

This field only accepts numbers as input. You are not allowed to use letters or special characters.

6.6.2.1.4. Keep Alive Ping

This field sets the time, *in seconds* when the *Ping* request will be forwarded. This request serves to verify the connection between the server and the clients.

This parameter can be set on both the server and the OpenVPN clients, but if this parameter is set on the server, the clients will assume the server's value and not the value set on them. If the server doesn't have such a setting, each client assumes its setting normally. If you want to disable pinging between the server and the clients, set the value to 0.

This field only accepts numbers as input. You are not allowed to use letters or special characters.

6.6.2.1.5. Keep Alive Timeout

This field sets the time, *in seconds* when the timeout of the *Ping* request will occur. After the expiration of this time, without a response from the other VPN device, it will be considered disconnected.

This parameter can be set on both the server and the OpenVPN clients, but if this parameter is set on the server, the clients will assume half of the server's value and not the value set on them. Clients receive half the amount to ensure that they are disconnected in case the server disconnects. If the Server does not have such a setting, each client assumes its setting normally. If you wish to disable this feature, set the value to 0.

This field only accepts numbers as input. You are not allowed to use letters or special characters.

6.6.2.1.6. Security Files

In the fields *CA Certificate, Device Certificate, Device Key* and *TA Key*, you must select which security file, certificate, or key, will be used to establish the OpenVPN communication. The options in each field, *combobox*, are filtered according to the type of key file or certificate, although there is no differentiation between keys and certificates.

To be possible to select a file, it must first have been imported.

All security files are required for correct communication to be established between clients and the VPN server, except for *TAP Key*. This key is optional for communication, but if it is used on the server, it becomes mandatory for all clients on the server.

See the TLS Certificates and Keys Management section for further information about generating certificates and security keys based on TLS.



6.6.2.1.7. TA Keys

In the field *TA Key* it is set which type of encryption will be applied to the *TA Key*. This field stays hidden until you select a file for the TLS key because it is only used in conjunction with this key. The default value of this parameter is *SHA1*, but you can select from the following values: *SHA256*, *SHA512*, and *MD5*, in addition to the default SHA1.

ATTENTION

This configuration needs to be the same between the clients and the server in the same OpenVPN network. If the value of this field is different between the client and server, the connection will not be established.

6.6.2.2. Server-Specific Configurations

The exclusive server configurations, seen in figure 43, are described below.

6.6.2.2.1. Network Address

The IP range that will be used to assign the server and client addresses for the VPN network is configured by the server by setting the *IP Address* and *Mask Address* fields. All IPs that will be assigned to the clients and the server will be taken from the specified range.

The server's IP address is always the first available value in the configured range, and for IP assignments to clients, the values still available in the range are used, so the first available value is assigned as clients make their connection. For example, if a network is configured with the addresses 10.8.12.4 and mask 255.255.255.248, the server will assume IP 10.8.12.5 which is the first available address in the configured range. However, if mask 255.255.255.255.0 is set, the server will assume IP 10.8.12.1, which is the first available address in the range.

The IP and Mask address fields only accept settings that have the syntax of an IP address and mask address, respectively. If anything out of the standard is configured, an alert message will be displayed, informing you that an error has occurred.

6.6.2.2.2. Communications Between Clients

In this field, you can enable or disable communication between clients in the VPN network. When the option is selected as *Disabled*, only client-server communication can be performed directly. If the option selected is *Enabled*, it will allow communication between the clients themselves in addition to the client-server communication.

6.6.2.2.3. Maximum Connected Clients

In this field, you can set the maximum number of clients that can connect to the server simultaneously. This field accepts only numeric characters, and the minimum value is 1.

6.6.2.2.4. Private Networks

When you select OpenPVN's operating mode as a server, a table will be displayed, normally hidden, which allows the configuration of private networks that can be below the server and each client.



altus NX3000	3		English Port
General Overview	Bus Information	Manager	nent
Curtom	Protocol	ТСР 🗸	
Jy System	Logs Level	3	
Network	Keep Alive Ping	10	
-	Keep Alive Timeout	60	
Hand SNMP	CA Certificate	Server_inline_ca	~
	Device Certificate	Server_inline_device	~
USB Devices	Device Key	Server_inline_device	~
Firewall	ТА Кеу	Disable	~
	Private Networks		
ETD Sonver	Type 🗧 Common Name 🖨	Address 🌲 🛛 Mask 🌲	
FTF FTP Server	Server server	192.168.80.0 255.255.255.0	
	Client client2	192.168.70.0 255.255.255.0	
	Server V		+

Figure 45: OpenVPN Private Network Configuration Table

To configure a private network that is below the server, simply select the network type as *Server* and configure the network addresses and mask. Configuring a private network for a client requires, in addition to setting the type as *Client*, to enter the *Common Name* of the client that owns the network being configured.

The Common Name of a client is set when generating the *Device Certificate*. This parameter is entered when creating the certificate and is unique for each client and server. The configuration of these private networks creates a routing table that will be checked when receiving or sending packets over the VPN.

Figure above, shows a configuration of a subnet 80 on the OpenVPN server, then a routing rule will be configured that will forward the data packets that will be received by the VPN to the device interface configured on this network. It also creates a rule, internal to the server, that if a data packet has the subnet 70, this packet will be routed and forwarded through the VPN tunnel. The same behavior occurs with the *client2* client, but with the subnets switched, because below this client is the 70 subnet and it will forward packets with the 80 subnet to the VPN tunnel.

See the following figure for an example of architecture:





In the example picture, the NX3008 on the left has a private network 80 configured on its NET 2, and connected to it is an NX3003 on the same network. The NX3008 on the right has a private network 70 configured on its NET 2 and connected to it is an HMI, on the same network. The example architecture realizes the communication between the NX3003 and HMI devices over VPN by configuring their respective private networks.

After filling the fields, shown in the figure 45, with the desired configuration, you must click on the blue + button that appears on the far right of the configuration fields, so that the rule is added to the table. If you want to delete a rule, drag your mouse over the rule you want to remove, and a red X will appear on the right, as shown in the image 45. By clicking on this X, the rule is removed from the table.

For the settings present in the table to be applied to the device you must click the *Apply* button and confirm the operation in the confirmation window that will appear. When the rules are applied, a message will be displayed indicating whether the operation was successful or not.

6.6.2.3. Client-Specific Configurations

There is only one configuration unique to OpenVPN clients on the page, which you can see in the picture 44. This configuration is the *IP Remote*.

6.6.2.3.1. Remote IP

The Remote IP field sets the address where the VPN server is expecting communication from the clients. If an OpenVPN server is established on a computer, the remote IP configuration must be done according to the IP address of this computer. This field also accepts *host names* as the remote address, so you can set an IP or a hostname in this parameter.

ATTENTION

Because of the need to allow for such different parameters, IPs, and host names, the only check that exists in this field is whether or not data exists. Be careful when performing the configuration.

6.6.2.4. Applying Configurations

To enable the functionality, the checkbox *Enabled*, shown in the figure above, must be checked. If you just want to apply the settings you have made and not enable OpenVPN, uncheck this checkbox.

After you have made all the desired settings, the settings must be applied to the device, to do this use the *Apply* button. This button is shown in the figure 44 in the lower right corner. When the settings are applied and the VPN is enabled, the web page will perform an automatic *scroll* to the OpenVPN *status* table, displayed in the Status Table section.

6.6.3. Security Files

Security files are used to establish OpenVPN's communication securely by performing the role of encrypting and decrypting the data packets that will travel through the VPN tunnel. In the TLS Certificates and Keys Management section, it is described how to generate TLS keys and certificates. Here is a screenshot that shows the section responsible for managing the security files:



altus NX300	8				English
General Overview		Bus Informa	ation		Management
System	Security Files				Upload
Network	Select certificat	es and keys		Choose file Select	
로 SNMP	File Name 🗢	Туре 🖨	Common Name 🖨	Start at (GMT) 🌲	End at (GMT) 🌲
	Client2_inline_ca	Certificate	CA-Entity	2022/10/05 12:27	2032/10/02 12:27
USB Devices	Client2_inline_device	Certificate	client2	2022/10/05 12:57	2025/01/07 12:57
,	Client2_inline_device	Key	-	-	•
Firewall	Server_inline_ca	Certificate	CA-Entity	2022/10/05 12:27	2032/10/02 12:27
	Server_inline_device	Key	server	2022/10/05 12:52	2025/01/07 12:52
OpenVPN		, tog			
FTP Server					
	Status				
	Current State			Not Running	
	CA Common Na	ime		CA-Entity	
	Current CA Cert	ificate		Server_inline_ca.c	rt - 3284 Day(s) Left

Figure 47: OpenVPN Security Files Table

In this section of the System Web Page, you can manage the security files. You can import files, monitor the validity of certificates, download files uploaded to the device, and delete files that have been uploaded.

By clicking the *Choose files* button, you can import certificates and keys, these files must have the respective extensions *.crt* and *.key*. This button opens a file explorer window and allows the selection of one file, i.e. multiple files.

ATTENTION
There is a limit of 12 files that can be imported into the controller.

The control of the files is done in the table, which is shown in the picture 47. This table adds new items, or removes them, as the import or delete operations occur. You can identify whether the file is a key or a certificate by the second item in the list, the *Type*, which indicates what that file is. For the certificates, their *commons names* and their expiry dates, both start and expiry, are also displayed.

You can recover a file that has been imported into the part and also delete it. When you drag the mouse over a file in the table, two buttons appear, one for downloading and one for deleting. The download button is a black arrow pointing downwards, and the delete button is a red X.

6.6.4. Status Table

Designed to allow for data monitoring, OpenVPN's status table automatically expands as you change settings and displays various data about the connection such as the state of the VPN, the VPN IP assigned to that device, the data being transmitted, and the security files being used for communication.



altus NX3008	3	inginar port
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
System	Status	
Network	Current State	Not Running
	CA Common Name	CA-Entity
	Current CA Certificate	Server_inline_ca.crt - 3284 Day(s) Left
USB Devices	Device Common Name	server
÷	Current Device Certificate	Server_inline_device.crt - 459 Day(s) Left
Firewall	Current Device Private Key	Server_inline_device.key
OpenVPN		
FTP FTP Server	Files to Download	
	Configuration	<u>openvpn.conf</u>
	Logs	<u>openvpn.log</u>
	Status	<u>openvpn.status</u>

Figure 48: OpenVPN Status Table with Feature Disabled

When VPN is disabled, the table has few parameters. The field *Current State* indicates whether the VPN is enabled or not, and the other fields show which certificates and keys are configured for VPN communication. If one of the security files has not been selected, the character "-" will appear instead of its name, indicating that there is no file configured.

The common name fields for the CA and the device display the names given to the respective certificates, certificate authority, and device.

Next to the file name of each certificate is displayed the remaining time, *in days*, until its expiration date.

altus NX3000	3	G- Logo
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
🗒 System	Status	
Network	Current State	Running
П. нина.	Connection State	Connected
FT SNMP	Connection Time	00:01:01
USB Devices	IP Address	10.8.100.1
Ŷ	Number of Active Connections	0
Firewall	Bytes Sent	0
	Bytes Received	0
OpenVPN	CA Common Name	CA-Entity
	Current CA Certificate	Server_inline_ca.crt - 3284 Day(s) Left
	Device Common Name	server
	Current Device Certificate	Server_inline_device.crt - 459 Day(s) Left
	Current Device Private Key	Server_inline_device.key

Figure 49: OpenVPN Status Table with Feature Enabled

When the functionality is enabled and the settings are applied on the device, the table has its cells dynamically modified so that the remaining information is displayed. Information about the OpenVPN connection status can be found in the first two topics of the list.



The item *Current State* has the states of *Not Running*, *Starting service*..., and *Running*, which indicate respectively that the VPN is disabled, is starting or is enabled.

The item Connection State has the states Not connected, Connecting..., and Connected.

The other information that can be obtained from this table is the total connection time, the device's IP address, and the amount of data sent and received, in bytes. The status of how many clients are currently connected is only displayed when OpenVPN is operating as a server.

6.6.5. Files to Download

You can check the information generated by OpenVPN through status and log files. The list of files to download is only displayed when there is a file to download. If there is none, the message "No file found in the controller!" is displayed. Clicking on any of the links will download the requested file through the browser.

altus NX3008	3	English Po
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
System	Status	
Network	Current State	Not Running
P. CHIMP.	CA Common Name	CA-Entity
TT SNMP	Current CA Certificate	Server_inline_ca.crt - 3284 Day(s) Left
USB Devices	Device Common Name	server
-	Current Device Certificate	Server_inline_device.crt - 459 Day(s) Left
Firewall	Current Device Private Key	Server_inline_device.key
OpenVPN		
FTP Server	Files to Download	
	Configuration	<u>openvpn.conf</u>
	Logs	openvpn.log
	Status	openvpn.status

Figure 50: OpenVPN Download Section

6.6.6. Archtectures Configuration

This section will cover some possible configurations for OpenVPN, such as Host-to-Host, Host-to-Site, and Site-to-Site architectures.

6.6.6.1. Host-to-Host



Figure 51: Example of Host-to-Host architecture

This topology allows the connection between two VPN hosts. Both hosts can be chosen to be configured as the server, then the other should be configured as the client, or both hosts can be configured as clients and have a third host that will be the server for the VPN network.



Setting up this type of architecture doesn't require any specific configuration. In other words, there is no restriction on the settings available on the OpenVPN web page.

6.6.6.2. Host-to-Site



Figure 52: Example of Host-to-Site architecture

This topology allows the connection between two VPN hosts, but one of these hosts also acts as a gateway to the VPN network. Through this gateway, routing is performed to set up communication between hosts A, B1, B2, and Gateway B. In this scenario, either Host A or Gateway B can be the server. When one is the server on the network, the other will be the client.

The hosts, B1 and B2, that are on a private Lan B network below Gateway B, don't need to support OpenVPN to be able to communicate since all communication is handled by the VPN network gateway.

To enable communication between all devices on the network, you need to create routing rules for the VPN tunnel. Please refer to the section <u>Private Networks</u> to see how to create private network rules.

This VPN connection architecture requires some specific configurations. The server must have its topology configuration as a Subnet, this being the default configuration of the controller, to configure the private networks under Gateway B, as seen in the image above.

You also need to enter the address of the private network, Lan B, that will be communicating through the VPN. This configuration is done using the command *push "route Lan_B_IP Lan_B's_Mask"* and is required regardless of whether the private network is located below the client or the OpenVPN server, but if the private network is below the VPN client, you must add, in addition to this command, the following configuration: *route route Lan_B_IP Lan_B's_Mask*. These settings are written to the VPN server's configuration file.

6.6.6.3. Site-to-Site





altus

This topology allows the connection between two VPN hosts, both of which acts as a gateway to the VPN network. Through these gateways, access is provided to establish communication between hosts A1, A2, B1, B2, Gateway A, and Gateway B. In this scenario, any gateway can assume the role of a server, so the other will be the client.

None of the hosts that are in a private network below one of the two gateways need to support OpenVPN to be able to communicate, since all communication is handled by the VPN network gateways.

To enable communication between all devices on the network, you need to create routing rules for the VPN tunnel. Please refer to the section Private Networks to see how to create private network rules.

The configurations for this architecture need the same specific settings described in section Host-to-Site, with the difference that now, there are two private networks, and both must follow the configuration that has been demonstrated. Assuming that Gateway A is the server on this connection, you should add the following commands to the configuration file: *push "route Lan_A_IP Lan_A's_Mask"*, *route Lan_B_IP Lan_B's_Mask*, and *push "route Lan_B_IP Lan_B's_Mask"*. If the server is Gateway B, in the configuration file it would be added: *push "route Lan_B_IP Lan_B's_Mask"*, *route Lan_A's_Mask*, and *push "route Lan_A_IP Lan_A's_Mask"*.

6.7. Secure OPC UA Server

RC 3.1 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

OPC UA is an industrial communication protocol for interoperability developed by the OPC Foundation. MasterTool is equipped with an OPC UA server functionality to provide access to the controller and its application. Several security measures are provided, including an OPC UA server operating with encrypted communication based on X.509 certificates and acting with access to a specific user-defined set of symbols, ensuring greater confidentiality for the data exchanged with connected clients.

6.7.1. OPC UA Server: User Management Available

RC 2.1 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

By adding the *Symbol Configuration* object to the project for OPC communication, subsets of all defined symbols (symbolSets) can be created. In the *symbol configuration* window, under the *Settings* menu, symbol sets can be activated, as shown in Figure 54.



Figure 54: Activating symbol sets.

Once activated, a new symbol set can be created using the "+" button, as shown in Figure 55.



Configuration (Bus)	Symbol Configuration ★				
Execute "Build" command to be able to select variables (you need an error-free build). Build Details default Configure Symbol Rights Changed symbol configuration will be transferred with the next download or online change					
Symbols	Access Rights Maximal Attribute Type Members Comment				
IoQualities IoQualities IoConfig_Globals MainPrg	Add a new symbol set × Symbol-Set Name New				
Module_Diagnostics System_Diagnostics	After adding a symbol set you have to set permissions in the plc				
	Add Cancel				

Figure 55: Creating a new symbol set.

In the symbol list, the desired symbols can be selected for inclusion in the group. With user management enabled, these symbol sets can be assigned to specific users for visibility and the determination of read/write access rights, ensuring the confidentiality of the data exchanged with connected clients. This is done after creating the symbol subset, using the *Configure Symbol Rights...* button, in the *Users and Groups* and *Access Rights* tabs. For more information on *User Management* and *Access Rights*, refer to Chapter 6.1.

6.7.2. OPC UA Server: Support for X.509 Certificate-based Communication

RC 3.1 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

One of the features of the OPC UA Server is to operate with encrypted communication based on X.509 certificates. Different security profiles are defined by the OPC Foundation.

Depending on the profile, this protects the integrity (for signed profiles only) or the integrity and confidentiality (for signed and encrypted profiles) of the data exchanged with connected clients.

This measure safeguards the confidentiality of the data exchanged with connected clients.

To verify centificate configurations, access *View > Security Screen*. If desired, the user can configure encryption for OPC UA communication using the *Basic256SHA256* profile, for a secure connection (cyber security).

To configure encryption on an OPC UA server, you must create a certificate for it using the following steps in the MasterTool programmer:

- 1. Define an active path for communication with the controller (no login required);
- 2. From the *View* menu, select *Security Screen*;
- 3. Click the *Devices* tab on the left side of this screen;
- 4. Click the icon 🙆 to perform a refresh;
- 5. Click on the *Device* icon, below which will open several certificates (*Own Certificates, Trusted Certificates, Untrusted Certificates*);
- 6. Click the icon 🔝 to generate a certificate and select the following parameters:
 - *Key length* (bit): 3072
 - *Validity period* (days): 365 (can be modified if desired)
- 7. Wait while the certificate is calculated and transferred to the controller (this may take a few minutes);
- 8. Reboot the controller.
- 9. On the OPC UA client, perform the necessary procedures to connect to the OPC UA server and generate a certificate with the *Basic256Sha256* profile (see specific OPC UA client manual for details);
- 10. Back to MasterTool, click on the icon 🙆 of the *Security Screen* to perform a refresh;
- 11. On the *Security Screen*, select the "*Quarantined Certificates*" folder under the *Device*. In the right panel you should observe a certificate requested by the OPC UA client;
- 12. Drag this certificate to the folder "*Trusted Certificates*";
- 13. Proceed with the settings in the OPC UA client (see specific OPC UA client manual for details).



To remove encryption previously configured on a controller, you must do the following:

- 1. Define an active path for communication with the controller (no login required);
- 2. From menu *View*, select *Security Screen*;
- 3. Click on the *Devices* on the left side of this screen;
- 4. Click the icon 🙆 to perform a refresh;
- 5. Click on the *Device* icon, below which will open several certificates (*Own Certificates, Trusted Certificates, Untrusted Certificates, Quarantined Certificates*);
- 6. Click the folder "Own Certificates" and in the right panel select the certificate (OPC UA Server);
- 7. Click the icon \boxtimes to remove this project and driver certificate;
- 8. Reset (turn off and on) the controller.

6.8. Resource Management

RC 7.2 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

For equipment with multiple communication interfaces, it is possible to disable some of them through Mastertool, if desired. However, it is essential that at least one interface remains active to ensure communication between the user and the controller.



Figure 56: Disabling Network Interfaces

Table 3 indicates the reserved TCP ports of the equipment. These ports remain open only when the corresponding protocol is in use; otherwise, they remain closed.

6.9. System Recovery

RC 7.4 from IEC 62443-4-2 standard

The components have the ability to recover to a known state after a failure by performing procedures that aim to save data and configurations. This must be done by the user when the system is fully operational, thus creating a complete backup of the project.

6.9.1. User Settings

The export of user permissions and access rights for the project is done from the menu *Project > User Management > Permissions*. By clicking on *Export/Import* and then *Export all permissions*..., Mastertool will generate a file containing the settings.



ermissions	
Actions	Permissions
Please note: Members of the group 'Owner' are granted all permissions.	Image: Grant = Deny ≥ Clear Everyone Key to the symbols: For this group, permission for the selected actions is Image: Imag
Export/Import	Close
Export All Permissions Export Selected Permissions	
Import Permissions	

Figure 57: Exporting user permissions

To import these permissions into the project, go to the same menu, but click on Import Permissions.

6.9.2. Online Variables Export

It is possible to export the values of the online variables from the *Online > Export online variables* menu. This command will create a file (saved in the same directory as the project) containing all the values of the online variables.

Γ	Onli	ne Debug Tools Window Help				₹
2	OŞ.	Login Alt+F8	월 193 93			
Р	0ğ	Logout Ctrl+F8				
		Create Boot Application	Device x	I	/O Simulator 👻 /	a x
1		Download		1	NX 200 1(NX 200 1) : 24 Vdc 16 /	00 ^
		Online Change	n Network Gateway v Device v		Output 00 (%OX0.0)	-
1		Source Download to Connected Device			Output 01 (%OX0.1)	- 1
	*	Redundancy Configuration			Output 02 (%QX0.2)	- 1
		OPC DA Configuration			Output 03 (%QX0.3)	
		CPU Information	****		Output 04 (%QX0.4)	
		Reset Warm	Gateway		Output 05 (%QX0.5)	
		Reset Cold			Output 06 (%QX0.6)	
		Reset Origin	<smulation mode=""> V <smulation mode=""> V</smulation></smulation>		Output 07 (%QX0.7)	
1	\sim	Simulation			Output 10 (%QX1.0)	
1		Security +			Output 11 (%QX1.1)	
	a.	Easy Connection			Output 12 (%QX1.2)	
	0	Clock Settings			Output 13 (%QX1.3)	
Г		Export Online Variables			Output 14 (%QX1.4)	
T	-	Import Online Variables	ur device can be secured. Learn more		Output 15 (%QX1.5)	
	-	C	\$ \$	<	a su a se he over et	>



6.9.3. Configuration Data Export

It is possible to export certain configurations from the device's web page. By clicking the *Export* button available on the page, this will generate a *.txt* file containing the settings for that functionality. This can be stored as a backup and, if necessary, imported back into the PLC.



altus NX300	18	English Port
General Overview	Bus Information	Management
System	Last modification 2025-03-10 20:33:38 (UTC)	
A	General Configuration	Export Import
Network	Enable Firewall	2
BA SNMP	Disable ICMP (Ping)	0
	Enable UDP Packets Filter	0
USB Devices	Enable TCP Packets Filter	0
🚯 Firewall	Inbound Package Policy	ACCEPT V
OpenVPN	Outbound Package Policy	ACCEPT
FTP FTP Server	User Rules	+ Add to list
	Source Type	
	Source Address	
	Source Mask	
	Destination Address	

Figure 59: Exporting User Permissions

It is also possible to perform the same procedure for USB Devices.

6.9.4. Export Firmware

Information regarding the device firmware backup is contained in Chapter 5.9.

6.10. Possible Sources of Risks

Connecting the device to the internet without proper Firewall and VPN configuration poses significant risks. The USB Host port present in the controllers of some series allows you to expand the controller's capabilities using various types of USB dongles, including SIM chip modems and WiFi adapters. For devices in bridge mode or routers with enabled external access (port forwarding), once connected to the internet, anyone who knows the modem's IP address can remotely access the controller. Therefore, for security reasons, it is extremely important and recommended to configure User Rights on the controller to restrict online operations of MasterTool IEC XE with login and password. Through the management Web page, you can even stop the controller, which is a risk not only to cybersecurity but also to the physical safety of employees and assets.

6.11. Reserved TCP/UDP Ports

The following TCP/UDP ports of both local and remote Ethernet interfaces are typically used by CPU services (subject to availability as per the PLC manual) and are therefore reserved and should not be used by the user.

Service	ТСР	UDP
System Web Page	80	-
SNTP	-	123
SNMP	-	161
MODBUS TCP	502*	-
Mastertool	1217*	1740:1743
SQL Server	1433	-
MQTT	1883* / 8883*	-



Service	ТСР	UDP
EtherNet/IP	44818	2222
IEC 60870-5-104	2404*	-
DNP3	20000* / 20005*	-
OPC UA	4840	-
WEBVISU	8080	-
CODESYS ARTI	11740	-
PROFINET	-	34964
Portainer Docker	9000	-

Table 3: Reserved TCP/UDP ports

* Default port, but user changeable.

7. Compliance with IEC 62443-4-2

The IEC 62443-4-2 standard defines cybersecurity requirements for components in industrial control and automation systems. It covers all system components, including software applications, network devices, embedded devices, and host servers.

Throughout this document, only the requirements applicable to embedded devices (CR and EDR), such as PLCs and other Altus products, are described.

However, the table below lists all the standard's requirements, including those that do not apply or are not met. The requirements that are met include a reference to the section where they can be found.

Component Requirement	Security Level	Chapter
FR 1 – Identification and authentication control (IAC)		
CR 1.1 Human user identification and authentication	1	5.1.1, 6.1
RE (1) Unique identification and authentication	2	5.1.1, 6.1
RE (2) Multifactor authentication for all interfaces	3	
CR 1.2 - Software process and device identification and authentication	2	5.2
RE (1) Unique identification and authentication	3	5.2
CR 1.3 - Account management	1	5.1.1, 6.1
CR 1.4 - Identifier management	1	5.1.1, 6.1, 6.1.3
CR 1.5 - Authenticator management	1	5.1.1, 6.1, 6.1.3
RE (1) Hardware security for authenticators	3	
NDR 1.6 - Wireless access management	1	N/A
RE (1) Unique identification and authentication	2	N/A
CR 1.7 - Strength of password-based authentication	1	5.1.1, 6.1
RE (1) Password generation and lifetime restrictions for human users	3	
RE (2) Password lifetime restrictions for all users (human, software process, or	4	
device)		
CR 1.8 - Public key infrastructure certificates	2	
CR 1.9 - Strength of public key-based authentication	2	
RE (1) Hardware security for public key-based authentication	3	
CR 1.10 - Authenticator feedback	1	5.1.1
CR 1.11 - Unsuccessful login attempts	1	5.1.1
CR 1.12 - System use notification	1	
NDR 1.13 - Access via untrusted networks	1	N/A
RE (1) Explicit access request approval	3	N/A
CR 1.14 - Strength of symmetric key-based authentication	2	
RE (1) Hardware security for symmetric key-based authentication	3	
FR 2 - Use control (UC)		
CR 2.1 - Authorization enforcement	1	5.1.1, 5.1.2, 6.7.1, 6.1, 6.7.1
RE (1) Authorization enforcement for all users (humans, software processes and devices)	2	5.1.1, 5.1.2, 6.7.1,
RE (2) Permission mapping to roles	2	511 512 671
	-	6.1, 6.7.1
RE (3) Supervisor override	3	
RE (4) Dual approval	4	
CR 2.2 - Wireless use control	1	5.1.2, 6.7.1, 6.7.1
CR 2.3 - Use control for portable and mobile devices	-	N/A
SAR 2.4 - Mobile code	1	N/A
RE (1) Mobile code authenticity check	2	N/A
EDR 2.4 - Mobile code	1	N/A
RE (1) Mobile code authenticity check	2	N/A
HDR 2.4 - Mobile code	1	N/A
RE (1) Mobile code authenticity check	2	N/A
NDR 2.4 - Mobile code	1	N/A
RE (1) Mobile code authenticity check	2	N/A



Component Requirement	Security Level	Chapter
CR 2.5 - Session lock	1	5.1.1
CR 2.6 - Remote session termination	1	5.1
CR 2.7 - Concurrent session control	3	
CR 2.8 - Auditable events	1	5.6
CR 2.9 - Audit storage capacity	1	5.6, 6.3
RE (1) Warn when audit record storage capacity threshold reached	3	5.6, 6.3
CR 2.10 - Response to audit processing failures	1	5.6
CR 2.11 - Timestamps	1	5.6
RE (1) Time synchronization	2	5.6
RE (2) Protection of time source integrity	4	5.6
CR 2.12 - Non-repudiation	1	5.6
RE (1) Non-repudiation for all users	4	
EDR 2.13 - Use of physical diagnostic and test interfaces	2	
RE (1) Active monitoring	3	
HDR 2.13 - Use of physical diagnostic and test interfaces	2	N/A
RE (1) Active monitoring	3	N/A
NDR 2.13 - Use of physical diagnostic and test interfaces	2	N/A
RE (1) Active monitoring	3	N/A
FR 3 - System integrity (SI)	-	
CR 3.1 - Communication integrity	1	5.3, 6.7, 6.7.2
RE (1) Communication authentication	2	, ,
SAR 3.2 - Protection from malicious code	1	N/A
EDR 3.2 - Protection from malicious code	1	5.11
HDR 3.2 - Protection from malicious code	1	N/A
RE (1) Report version of code protection	2	N/A
NDR 3.2 - Protection from malicious code	1	N/A
CR 3.3 - Security functionality verification	1	5.1.1, 5.6
RE (1) Security functionality verification during normal operation	4	5.6
CR 3.4 - Software and information integrity	1	5.6
RE (1) Authenticity of software and information	2	
RE (2) Automated notification of integrity violations	3	
CR 3.5 - Input validation	1	5.6
CR 3.6 - Deterministic output	1	5.7
CR 3.7 - Error handling	1	5.8
CR 3.8 - Session integrity	2	
CR 3.9 - Protection of audit information	2	
RE (1) Audit records on write-once media	4	6.3
EDR 3.10 - Support for updates	1	6.4.1
RE (1) Update authenticity and integrity	2	6.4.1
HDR 3.10 - Support for updates	1	N/A
RE (1) Update authenticity and integrity	2	N/A
NDR 3.10 - Support for updates	1	N/A
RE (1) Update authenticity and integrity	2	N/A
EDR 3.11 - Physical tamper resistance and detection	2	
RE (1) Notification of a tampering attempt	3	
HDR 3.11 - Physical tamper resistance and detection	2	N/A
RE (1) Notification of a tampering attempt	3	N/A
NDR 3.11 - Physical tamper resistance and detection	2	N/A
RE (1) Notification of a tampering attempt	3	N/A



Component Requirement	Security Level	Chapter
EDR 3.12 - Provisioning product supplier roots of trust	2	
HDR 3.12 - Provisioning product supplier roots of trust	2	N/A
NDR 3.12 - Provisioning product supplier roots of trust	2	N/A
EDR 3.13 - Provisioning asset owner roots of trust	2	
HDR 3.13 - Provisioning asset owner roots of trust	2	N/A
NDR 3.13 - Provisioning asset owner roots of trust	2	N/A
EDR 3.14 - Integrity of the boot process	1	
RE (1) Authenticity of the boot process	2	
HDR 3.14 - Integrity of the boot process	1	N/A
RE (1) Authenticity of the boot process	2	N/A
NDR 3.14 - Integrity of the boot process	1	N/A
RE (1) Authenticity of the boot process	2	N/A
FR 4 – Data confidentiality (DC)	•	
CR 4.1 - Information confidentiality	1	5.4, 5.5
CR 4.2 - Information persistence	2	
RE (1) Erase of shared memory resources	3	
RE (2) Erase verification	3	
CR 4.3 - Use of cryptography	1	5.5 5.12
FR5 - Restricted data flow (RDF)		
CR 5.1 - Network segmentation	1	6.6, 6.5
NDR 5.2 - Zone boundary protection	1	N/A
RE (1) Deny all, permit by exception	2	N/A
RE (2) Island mode	3	N/A
RE (3) Fail close	3	N/A
NDR 5.3 - General-purpose person-to-person communication restrictions	1	N/A
FR6 - Timely response to events (TRE)		
CR 6.1 - Audit log accessibility	1	5.6
RE (1) Programmatic access to audit logs	3	
CR 6.2 - Continuous monitoring	2	
FR7 - Resources Availability (RA)		
CR 7.1 - Denial of service protection	1	6.2
RE(1) Manage communication load from component	2	
CR 7.2 - Resource management	1	6.8
CR 7.3 - Control system backup	1	5.9
RE (1) Backup integrity verification	2	
CR 7.4 - Control system recovery and reconstitution	1	6.9
CR 7.5 - Emergency power	-	
CR 7.6 - Network and security configuration settings	1	6.4
RE (1) Machine-readable reporting of current security settings	3	
CR 7.7 - Least functionality	1	6.8
CR 7.8 - Control system component inventory	2	5.10

Table 4: IEC 62443-4-2 Standard Compliance Table

7.1. Security Level 1

One of the requirements of this level that is not met is CR 1.12, which specifies that the system must display a notification before user authentication and, in addition, allow the administrator to configure the message. Currently, the products display a login confirmation screen, but it is not customizable as required by the standard.

Another unmet requirement is EDR 3.14, which requires the device to perform an integrity check of the firmware, software, and configuration files before startup. This tool is currently under development but has not yet been implemented.

The compliance rate for this security level is 94% (34 out of 36 requirements).

7.2. Security Level 2

To fully meet the level 2 security requirements of the standard, 22 requirements are proposed, of which 7 are met, resulting in a compliance rate of 32%.

The unmet requirements primarily concern functionalities related to public key certifications and the integrity of internal component files, such as firmware and configurations.

In general, to fully comply with this security level, more advanced PKI policies should be implemented, ensuring that components perform more robust checks of digital certificates. This includes the use of encryption to validate the authenticity and integrity of certificates, enhancing protection against attacks.

The unmet requirements are:

1)	CR 1.9	9)	EDR 3.12
2)	CR 1.14	10)	EDR 3.13
3)	EDR 2.13	11)	EDR 3.14 RE(1)
4)	CR 3.1 RE(1)	12)	CR 4.2
5)	CR 3.4 RE(1)	13)	CR 6.2
6)	CR 3.8	15)	CK 0.2
7)	CR 3.9	14)	CR 7.1 RE(1)
8)	EDR 3.11	15)	CR 7.3 RE(1)

7.3. Security Level 3

To meet the level 3 security requirements of the IEC62443-4-2 standard, the component must satisfy 16 requirements. Since these are more stringent requirements, only 2 of them are met, resulting in a compliance rate of 12.5%.

7.4. Security Level 4

Of the 7 requirements presented by the standard for this security level, 3 are currently met, which is 43%.

8. Compliance with the Operation Procedures Manual - ONS

This chapter demonstrates the relationship between Altus products and the requirements of the "Operation Procedures Manual: Minimum Cybersecurity Controls for the Regulated Cyber Environment", issued by Operador Nacional do Sistema, the entity responsible for coordinating and controlling the operation of electricity generation and transmission facilities within Brazil. This document is found in Module 5 - Submodule 5.13 of the Operation Procedures Manual.

The objective of this manual is to establish the minimum cybersecurity controls to be implemented by agents and ONS in the Regulated Cyber Environment (ARCiber). The table below presents the guidelines proposed by ONS, along with explanations of their application in Altus products.

REQUIREMENT	COMMENT			
4.1 Technological Architecture for the environment				
 4.1.1 Networks must be segregated into security zones according to their function. The agent must define an architecture that segments the networks at a minimum into: a) Supervision Zone b) Operational DMZ Zone c) Corporate Zone 	Considering the separation into Zones and Conduits from ISA99 (IEC 62443) and the Purdue Reference Model, Altus devices will be installed in the Supervision Zone. Altus devices have the necessary segregation features in- dicated in the specification.			
4.1.2 The ARCiber should not be directly accessible through the internet, even if protected by one or more firewalls, nor should its assets.	The entire network can be accessed through a single VPN without the need for specific component characteristics. It is on Altus' roadmap to implement VPN for its products next year. More information			
 4.1.3 Access to ARCiber from networks external to the organization (such as, for example, the internet) should only be allowed for the performance of authorized activities. This access must be carried out through a Virtual Private Network (VPN), or similar technology, via a gateway or service that provides security controls. a) They should not be visible or accessible from the internet. b) They should not be able to connect to the internet. 	regarding the use of VPN in Altus products can be found in section 6.6			
4.1.4 Antimalware solutions must be implemented in ARCiber and kept up to date.a) Application whitelisting solutions can be implemented as an alternative or complement to antimalware solutions.	Not applicable to the products.			
4.2 Information Security Governance				
4.2.1 At least one manager and one deputy must be appointed, responsible for the cybersecurity of ARCiber and acting as external points of contact.	These requirements relate to processes and do not necessarily have a connection with product functionalities.			
4.2.2 A policy must be established to define roles and responsibilities regarding the cybersecurity of ARCiber.				

REQUIREMENT	COMMENT	
4.3 Asset Inventory		
 4.3.1All assets, both software and hardware, connected to ARCiber must be inventoried at least every 24 months and must include at a minimum: a) Device type; b) Equipment manufacturer; c) Function; d) IP address or MAC address; e) Application protocol and/or service port; f) Firmware and/or operating system version; 4.3.2 The asset inventory must be stored securely, with 	All information is accessible through the equipment's diagnostics.	
well-defined storage policies, and access should be re- stricted to individuals who need the information to per- form their duties.		
4.3.3 Secure configuration standards (hardening) must be created according to the agent's security policy for operating systems, firmware, databases, and other software versions present in ARCiber:	As mentioned, our product is designed to not open un- used ports, interfaces, and protocols in the system. Re- sources that can be used but are not, are disabled. The file system of the Operating System and RTS (CoDeSys) are also not accessible to the user. Section 6.8 presents more information on the subject.	
4.4 Vulnerability Management		
 4.4.1 The organization's security policy should include the management of security patch packages for all technologies connected to ARCiber, covering at least: a) Implementation schedule for patches; b) Mapping of inventoried assets to updates provided by manufacturers. 	Altus products provide a firmware update mechanism (containing all necessary files for the system) that allows for the correction of vulnerabilities found in the equipment. The updates are available on the Altus website along with the product revision history (more information in section 6.4.1). A security page on the Altus website is planned, where mapped vulnerabilities will be published.	
4.4.2 New assets should only be connected to ARCiber after all available security patch packages have been applied.a) If the new equipment is replacing an existing equipment that has failed, the application of security patch packages may be postponed, but with a predefined deadline.	The possibility of updating the equipment allows new components to be reviewed and updated on the bench before installation.	
4.5 Access Management		
4.5.1.1 Access credentials must be individual and approved by the competent authority. In cases where it is not possible to implement individual credentials, the following actions should be taken:	Information regarding user management, login, and pass- word is contained in section 5.1.	
a) Generate and maintain a fist of morviduals authorized to use shared accounts.b) Implement the controls outlined in 4.5.1.6.		

REQUIREMENT	COMMENT
 4.5.1.2 Password policy should include: minimum length, complexity, the requirement to be different from the manufacturer's default password, actions to be taken if the maximum number of failed login attempts is reached, and criteria for change management (timeline, incident occurrence, etc.). a) The password policy can be implemented through technological controls or procedures. If the password characteristics outlined in the policy cannot be implemented on certain assets due to technological limitations, the maximum level supported by the asset should be implemented. 	Information regarding user management, login, and password can be found in section 5.1 and 6.1.
4.5.1.3 In constructing access profiles, the principle of least privilege must be followed (only the minimum necessary access should be granted)	
4.5.1.4 The maximum deadline for canceling/removing credentials of terminated users and credentials that have not been used after a certain period.	
 4.5.1.5 Privileged access credentials must be subject to specific controls, including: a) Appropriate approval level, with periodic review by the ARCiber manager; b) Exclusive use during the execution of administrative tasks; c) Monitoring through audit trails; d) Use of multi-factor authentication, such as OTP (one-time password) tokens or biometric recognition. 	Item D is not satisfied due to the absence of multi-factor authentication in Altus products.
 4.5.1.6 The special characteristics of embedded (local) default access credentials in operating systems and software must be considered in the access and identity management policy: a) Access to the password of embedded accounts should be restricted to a limited number of people; b) Each asset with an embedded credential should have a distinct password. The same password should not be assigned to more than one asset. 	There are no restrictions regarding the requirements for access management. The only functionality required in Altus products that has not yet been implemented is MFA (multi-factor authentication), but this is mapped to be im- plemented. Users will have the option to enable MFA. If they so choose, they will need to enter a password and a token (a temporary password, like in internet banking). The token will be generated every minute and displayed on the equipment's screen menu.
4.6 Incident Monitoring and Response	
4.6.1 ARCiber assets must be configured to generate appropriate security logs to support investigations and the reconstruction of potential security incidents. These logs should be stored for a period defined in the organization's cybersecurity policies.	The components generate logs for this purpose. More details about log generation can be found in section 5.6.

REQUIREMENT	COMMENT
 4.6.2 Security devices such as Firewalls, IDS/IPS, Antimalware, and authentication subsystems must be configured to generate alerts if they detect suspicious activities. a) The rules for generating alerts should be reviewed periodically; b) All alerts must be immediately reported to the responsible team defined in the agent's security policy; c) Generated alerts must be analyzed and responded to within the timeframe defined by the agent's security policy. 	There are no restrictions on the use of this type of functionality in Altus products.
4.6.3 Mechanisms must be established for the timely identification and response to cyber incidents.	
 4.6.4 A cyber incident response plan must be implemented, covering at least the following requirements: a) Identification of applicable cyber risk scenarios for ARCiber and treatment strategies for each scenario; b) Impact classification; c) Involved teams, with their respective roles and responsibilities before, during, and after the crisis; d) Criteria for activating the cyber incident response plan. 4.6.5 Cyber incident response plan activation tests must be conducted periodically, at intervals defined in the organization's cybersecurity policy, covering at least the activation lists (call tree) and review of the described procedures. The exercises should generate documents outlining lessons learned and the corresponding corrective and improvement actions. 	
4.6.6 Cyber incidents affecting ARCiber assets must be reported to the ONS.	
5.1 Exception Handling	
 5.1.1 Cases where requirements cannot be implemented must be treated with an exception. Each exception generated must be created: a) Documented in detail, including the date it was identified, the reason it needs to be treated as an exception, the items from this RO that will not be met, and the expected impacts; b) Approved by the manager responsible for the cybersecurity of ARCiber; 	Among the topics described in this manual, the only re- quirement that cannot be met is item 4.1.5.1-d), where multiple factors of authentication are required.

REQUIREMENT	COMMENT
5.2 Adoption of Complementary Controls	
 It is up to each organization to adopt controls: a) Complementary controls on assets that integrate ARCiber, according to their own policies, guidelines, and risk assessments. b) Cybersecurity controls on assets that do not integrate ARCiber, according to their own policies, guidelines, and risk assessments. 	There are no restrictions regarding this type of control in Altus products.

Table 5: Requirements from the Operation Procedures Manual - ONS

9. CODESYS Components and Products

The CVE (*Common Vulnerabilities and Exposures*) is an important tool for tracking vulnerabilities in products used in systems around the world. There is a common database with all entries for any product with a known vulnerability. This database can be accessed at the following links:

https://www.cvedetails.com/

https://cve.mitre.org/

Currently, Altus does not have its own database to record known vulnerabilities in its products. In this case, known vulnerabilities can be found in common databases through the use of keywords such as Altus, Hadron Xtorm, HX3040, among others. Many Altus products use CODESYS components and products in their development, and these parts also have vulnerabilities. More details about these vulnerabilities, security procedures, and security advisories can be found at:

https://www.codesys.com/ecosystem/security/latest-codesys-security-advisories/

However, Altus products do not use all CODESYS products and components. Therefore, to determine if a CVE related to CODESYS represents a vulnerability for Altus products, it is necessary to know which CODESYS components are integrated into Altus products.

Table 6 shows the components present in the implementation of each Altus product. All the components used are part of CODESYS V3, so only vulnerabilities related to this version should be considered.

CODESYS Components	MasterTool	Nexto	Xpress	HX3040	NL717
CODESYS OPC DA Server SL	\checkmark				
CODESYS Control for Linux ARM SL		(Just NX3008)	~		~
CODESYS Control for Linux SL		(Except NX3008)		~	
CODESYS Scripting	\checkmark				
CODESYS Visualization	 Image: A set of the set of the				
CODESYS WebVisu	>	(Just NX3005 e NX 3008)	(Just XP340)		
CODESYS Git	 Image: A start of the start of				
CODESYS PROFINET	>	(Except NX3003 e NX3004)	>	~	
CODESYS EtherNetIP	~	(Except NX3003 e NX3004)	>		
Web Server (part of CODESYS runtime system)		\checkmark	\checkmark	 Image: A start of the start of	\checkmark
CODESYS OPC UA Server		\checkmark	\checkmark	 ✓ 	\checkmark
CODESYS SOFTMOTION CNC+ROBOTICS			(Just XP351)		
CODESYS SOFTMOTION			(Just XP350)		
Communication via Standard Ethernet		~		 Image: A start of the start of	\checkmark
Package Manager	 Image: A set of the set of the				
Alarm Configuration	~	(Just NX3005 e NX3008)	(Just XP340)		
CODESYS Runtime Toolkit		\checkmark	\checkmark	 ✓ 	\checkmark
CODESYS Development System or CODESYS Development System V3	\checkmark				
CODESYS Control Runtime System Toolkit			\checkmark		\checkmark
CODESYS V3 Simulation Runtime (part of the CODESYS Development System)	~				
CODESYS Gateway	✓				
Trace Manager	\checkmark				

Table 6: CODESYS components present in Altus products

10. Conclusion

Security in control systems is of utmost importance in an increasingly interconnected and digitized industrial automation landscape. Security incidents have been on the rise, demanding that integrators and users remain vigilant and proactive in observing and mitigating these risks.

While it's true that cybersecurity can never be guaranteed at 100%, it's essential to understand that the adoption of security measures and proper precautions can significantly elevate the level of protection for a specific application. Awareness of potential threats and the implementation of preventive measures can create a strong barrier against potential hazards.

Therefore, collaboration among suppliers, integrators, operators, and users is crucial in fostering a robust and effective security culture. By investing in training and education, as well as adopting appropriate security technologies, it's possible to mitigate significant risks and ensure the resilience of control systems in industrial environments.

In this ever-evolving environment, it's crucial to recognize that security is a continuous effort. We must stay attuned to the latest trends and developments in cybersecurity, regularly updating and enhancing our security practices and protocols. This way, we can tackle security challenges in an increasingly digital world, safeguarding our operations and ensuring a safer and more reliable industrial automation environment.

11. Appendices

11.1. TLS Certificates and Keys Management

This section covers the generation of security files, certificates, and keys using TLS. The certificates commented on below are signed by CA. This type of certificate considers an entity, called Certificate Authority (CA), to generate the certificates. This entity can be an official authority service or a simple computer. It is only necessary to restrict access to the CA to avoid any security breach since this entity can generate certificates for any device. The image below shows how each device interacts with the files.



Figure 60: TLS Certificate Generation Flow

First of all, the generated files are private keys. Each device has its key file, created either by the CA entity or the device itself. The most important file is the CA private key *ca.key*, which must not leave the entity. The CA entity generates its certificate based on its private key *ca.crt*. This certificate is a public file used by the devices to validate the VPN connection. Generating certificates from the device first requires a request file (*.csr* or *.req* depending on the tool) based on the device's private key. This document presents two possible tools for generating certificate files: Easy-RSA and OpenSSL.

Make sure you have the date and time set correctly in the CA entity so that the generation of the certificates is based on a current setting.

11.1.1. Certificate Generation with Easy-RSA

The OpenVPN project provides this tool to help with the certificate and keys. Easy-RSA is available for Windows and Linux. See below for step-by-step instructions to generate the files in a Windows configuration:

1- Open a Windows prompt in the Easy-RSA folder and run . *EasyRSA-Start.bat* to enter the tool shell.

C:\Users\igor.franco\Downloads\EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64\EasyRSA-3.0.8>.\EasyRSA-Start.bat			
Welcome to the EasyRSA 3 Shell for Windows. Easy-RSA 3 is available under a GNU GPLv2 license.			
Invoke './easyrsa' to call the program. Without commands, help is displayed.			
EasyRSA Shell # _			





2 - Copy the file vars.example and rename it to vars in the tools folder.



Figure 62: Certificate Generation using Easy-RSA (step 2)

3- Open the file vars with a text editor and change the Certification Authority information.

📄 vars 🗵
75
76 #set_var EASYRSA_TEMP_DIR "\$EASYRSA_PKI"
77
78 # Define X509 DN mode.
79 # This is used to adjust what elements are included in the Subject field as the DN
80 # (this is the "Distinguished Name.")
a) + Note that in th_only mode the organizational fields further below after t used.
oc ≠ 83 # Choices are:
84 # cn only - use just a CN value
85 # org - use the "traditional" Country/Province/City/Org/OU/email/CN format
86
87 #set_var EASYRSA_DN "cn_only"
88
<pre>89 # Organizational fields (used with 'org' mode and ignored in 'cn only' mode.)</pre>
90 # Inese are the default values for fields which will be placed in the
91 # certificate. Don't leave any of these fields blank, although interactively 92 # you way only any english field by tuning the "" sumbal (not valid for
93 # you may omit any specific field by typing the . Symbol (not valid for
94
95 #set_var EASYRSA_REQ_COUNTRY "BR"
96 #set_var EASYRSA_REQ_PROVINCE "Rio Grande do Sul"
97 #set_var EASYRSA_REQ_CITY "Sao Leopoldo"
98 #set_var_EASYRSA_REQ_ORG "Altus_SA"
99 #set var EASYRSA REQ_EMAIL "someemail@altus.com.br"
100 #Set_var LASIKSA_KLQ_00 "APED"
102 # Choose a size in bits for your keypairs. The recommended value is 2048. Using
103 # 2048-bit keys is considered more than sufficient for many years into the
104 # future. Larger keysizes will slow down TLS negotiation and make key/DH param
105
<pre>106 # software. Only used when the crypto alg is rsa (see below.)</pre>
100 #Set_var_LADIKSA_KLI_SIZE 2048
107 f The default crimto mode is yes, ac can enable elliptic curve support
* Note that not all software supports ECC, so use care when enabling it.
112 # Choices for crypto alg are: (each in lower-case)
113 # * rsa
114 # * ec
115 # * ed
116

Figure 63: Certificate Generation using Easy-RSA (step 3)

4- Use the command ./easyrsa init-pki to prepare the configuration.



Figure 64: Certificate Generation using Easy-RSA (step 4)

5- Then type *./easyrsa build-ca nopass* to generate the CA certificate. Remove the *nopass* argument if you want to set a password for the file. Enter the common name of the CA certificate when prompted (press enter to use the default *Easy-RSA CA* as the common name).

# ./easvrsa build-ca nopass	
Note: using Easy-RSA configuration from: //vars	
USINg J2E. Optilsz optilsz initional (zerosztara) (zeros	p.XXXXX
<pre>path = C:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/easy-rsa-6996.a08916/tm lpPathBuffer = C:\Users\IGOR~1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\ szTempName = C:\Users\IGOR~1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\tmp505C.tmp path = C:\Users\IGOR~1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\tmp505C.tmp fd = 3</pre>	p.XXXXXX
Generating RSA private key, 2048 bit long modulus	
path = C:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/easy-rsa-6996.a08916/tm lpPathBuffer = C:\Users\IGOR~1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\ sZTempName = C:\Users\IGOR~1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\tmp5194.tmp path = C:\Users\IGOR~1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\tmp5194.tmp	p.XXXXXX
You are about to be asked to enter information that will be incorporated into your certificate request.	
What you are about to enter is what is called a Distinguished Name or a DN. There are quite a few fields but you can leave some blank For some fields there will be a default value.	
If you enter '.', the field will be left blank.	
Common Name (eg: your user, host, or server name) [Easy-R5A CA]:CA-Entity	
CA creation complete and you may now import and sign cert requests. Your new CA certificate file for publishing is at: C:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/ca.crt	
EasyRSA Shell #	

Figure 65: Certificate Generation using Easy-RSA (step 5)

6 - Generate the device key and request files using the command *./easyrsa gen-req DeviceName nopass*. Change the *DeviceName* with the desired common name. Again, remove the *nopass* argument to use a password for the certificate file. When entering the Common Name as an argument, simply press Enter when prompted (red square).



Figure 66: Certificate Generation using Easy-RSA (step 6)

7- Finally, type ./easyrsa sign-req server DeviceName to generate the device certificate. The DeviceName is the desired common name, and the server is the type (use *client* if you are generating for a VPN client).

./easyrsa sign-req server DeviceName
Note: using Easy-RSA configuration from: ./vars Using SSL: openssl OpenSSL 1.1.0j 20 Nov 2018
You are about to sign the following certificate. Please check over the details shown below for accuracy. Note that this request has not been cryptographically verified. Please be sure it came from a trusted source or that you have verified the request checksum with the sender.
Request subject, to be signed as a server certificate for 825 days:
subject= commonName = DeviceName
Type the word 'yes' to continue, or any other input to abort.
Contrm request details: yes part = c:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/easy-rsa-9368.a06604/tmp.XXXXX lppathBuffer = c:UsersICOR0-1.FRA\AppDataLocal\Temp S:TempHame = c:UsersICOR0-1.FRA\AppDataLocal\Temp\tmpC79.tmp path = c:UsersICOR0-1.FRA\AppData\coal\Temp\tmpC79.tmp
uu – 5 path = C:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/easy-rsa-9368.a06604/tmp.XXXXX lpPathBuffer = C:UsersltGOR-1.FRA\AppDataLocallTemp\ SzTempHame = C:UsersltGOR-1.FRA\AppDataLocallTemp\tmpf29.tmp path = C:UsersltGOR-1.FRA\AppDataLocallTemp\tmpf29.tmp ff = 3
<pre>path = C:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/easy-rsa-9368.a06604/tmp.XXXXXX lpPathBuffer = C:UserslIGOR-1.FRA\AppDataLocallTemp\ szTempHame = C:UserslIGOR-1.FRA\AppDataLlocallTemp\tmp10FE.tmp path = C:UserslIGOR-1.FRA\AppDataLocallTemp\tmp10FE.tmp fd = 2</pre>
no to path = C:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/easy-rsa-9368.a06604/tmp.XXXXXX lpPathBuffer = C:UserslIGOR-1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\ SzTempHame = C:UserslGOR-1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\tmp11AA.tmp path = C:Users\IGOR-1.FRA\AppData\Local\Temp\tmp11AA.tmp
ru = 3 Using configuration from C:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/easy-rsa-9368.a06604/tm p.a16308
Check that the request matches the signature Signature ok The Subject's Distinguished Name is as follows commonName :ASN.1 12: DeviceName' Certificate is to be certified until JUI 29 12:59:53 2024 GMT (825 days)
Write out database with 1 new entries Data Base Updated
Certificate created at: C:/Users/igor.franco/Downloads/EasyRSA-3.0.8-win64/EasyRSA-3.0.8/pki/issued/DeviceName.crt
EasyRSA Shell #

Figure 67: Certificate Generation using Easy-RSA (step 7)

8- Repeat steps 6 and 7 to generate more device certificates.

9- Find the *ca.crt* in the *pki* folder, the device private keys in the *pki/private* path, and the device certificates in the *pki/issued* directory.



^			
Nome	Data de modificação	Тіро	Tamanho
certs_by_serial	26/04/2022 09:59	Pasta de arquivos	
issued	26/04/2022 09:59	Pasta de arquivos	
h private	26/04/2022 09:35	Pasta de arquivos	
renewed	26/04/2022 08:57	Pasta de arquivos	
neqs	26/04/2022 09:35	Pasta de arquivos	
revoked	26/04/2022 08:57	Pasta de arquivos	
🔄 ca.crt	26/04/2022 09:05	Certificado de Seg	2 KB
📔 index.txt	26/04/2022 09:59	Arquivo TXT	1 KB
index.txt.attr	26/04/2022 09:59	Arquivo ATTR	1 KB
index.txt.attr.old	26/04/2022 09:55	Arquivo OLD	1 KB
index.txt.old	26/04/2022 09:55	Arquivo OLD	1 KB
openssl-easyrsa.cnf	26/04/2022 08:54	Arquivo CNF	5 KB
safessl-easyrsa.cnf	26/04/2022 08:54	Arquivo CNF	5 KB
📄 serial	26/04/2022 09:59	Arquivo	1 KB
serial.old	26/04/2022 09:59	Arquivo OLD	1 KB

Figure 68: Certificate Generation using Easy-RSA (step 9)

11.1.2. Certificate Generation with OpenSSL

OpenSSL is an open-source package with tools that help generate many files and security features. This package is native to most Linux distributions and is available for Windows. Just remember to set the OpenSSL folder in the PATH (environment variable) to allow you to use the command from anywhere via the prompt. Find below the step-by-step using this feature (all files can have any name as desired, the steps consider only an example):

1- Open a prompt in the certificate folder (where you will create the files).

2- Generate the CA private key with the following command: openssl genrsa -out ca.key 4096.

C:\Users\igor.franco\Downloads\Certificate≻openssl genrsa -out ca.key 4096 Generating RSA private key, 4096 bit long modulus (2 primes) ++++
e is 65537 (0x010001)
C:\Users\igor.franco\Downloads\Certificate>

Figure 69: Certificate Generation using OpenSSL (step 2)

3- Then generate the CA certificate based on the private key, using the openssl req -new -x509 -days 365 -key ca.key -out ca.crt command.

The parameter *-days* represents the expiration time for the certificate. Set it as desired. In this example, the certificate is valid for one year. Fill in the values requested at the prompt as needed (press enter to use the default, which is enclosed in square brackets []). It is mandatory to define a Common Name for the certificate work.

C:\Users\igor.franco\Downloads\Certificate>openssl req -new -: You are about to be asked to enter information that will be in into your certificate request. What you are about to enter is what is called a Distinguished There are quite a few fields but you can leave some blank For some fields there will be a default value, If you enter '.', the field will be left blank.	x509 -days 365 -key ca.key -out ca.crt ncorporated Name or a DN.
Country Name (2 letter code) [AU]: State or Province Name (full name) [Some-State]: Locality Name (eg, city) []: Organization Name (eg, company) [Internet Widgits Pty Ltd]: Organizational Unit Name (eg, section) []: Common Name (e.g. server FQDN or YOUR name) []:CA-Entity Email Address []:	
C:\Users\igor.franco\Downloads\Certificate>	

Figure 70: Certificate Generation using OpenSSL (step 3)


4- Now generate the device's private key, similar to step 2, using the command openssl genrsa -out DeviceName.key 2048.



Figure 71: Certificate Generation using OpenSSL (step 4)

5- After that, generate the certificate request file based on the private key using the command *openssl req -new -key DeviceName.key -out DeviceName.csr*.

Enter the desired information, and remember to use a common name other than CA.



Figure 72: Certificate Generation using OpenSSL (step 5)

6- Finally, generate the device certificate using the CA private key, the CA certificate, and the device certificate request file using the *openssl x509 -req -days 365 -in DeviceName.csr -CA ca.crt -CAkey ca.key -set_serial 01 -out* command.

Set the expiration date as desired with the parameter *-days* and the serial number of the certificate with the argument *-set_serial*.



Figure 73: Certificate Generation using OpenSSL (step 6)

7- Repeat steps 4 to 6 for any new device.

8- (Optional) OpenSSL provides a tool to verify that the device certificate works with CA: Use the command *openssl verify -purpose sslserver -CAfile ca.crt DeviceName.crt*.

C:\Users\igor.franco\Downloads\Certificate>openssl verify -purpose sslserver -CAfile ca.crt DeviceName.crt DeviceName.crt: OK

Figure 74: Certificate Generation using OpenSSL (step 8)



11.1.3. TA Key Generation by OpenVPN

The OpenVPN project provides a tool for generating a TLS key, commonly called ta.key. This key is an extra layer of protection on OpenVPN's UDP/TCP communication ports, so the use of this key can be interpreted as an HMAC Firewall for VPN communication, requiring the existence of the parameter on both sides of the communication for it to be established.

The key generation can be done with the following command: *openvpn –genkey secret ta.key*. Example of using the command in Windows:

C:\Program	Files\OpenVPN\bin>openvpn	genkey	secret	C:\Users\bruno.berwanger\Desktop\Chaves\ta.key
C:\Program	Files\OpenVPN\bin>			

Figure 75: TA Key Generation in Windows

To execute the command, we used the executable installed with the OpenVPN package. The directory used in the image above is an example and is optional. You can use only the desired file name too.

The command can be used to generate the key from Linux, but there is a minor change in the command compared to Windows. To generate the key on Linux, use the following command: *openvpn –genkey –secret ta.key*. To run it, type the command in the terminal, as follows the example:



Figure 76: TA Key Generation in Linux

This parameter is not mandatory for VPN communication, but if the server uses it, all its clients must also use it, and the key for the server and the clients must be the same.